



# **Optimal Design of Plated/Shell Structures under Flutter Constraints—A Literature Review**

# Aleksander Muc, Justyna Flis \* and Marcin Augustyn

Institute of Machine Design, Cracow University of Technology, 31-864 Cracow, Poland; olekmuc@mech.pk.edu.pl (A.M.); augustyn@mech.pk.edu.pl (M.A.)

\* Correspondence: justyna.flis@pk.edu.pl

Received: 24 October 2019; Accepted: 10 December 2019; Published: 15 December 2019



**Abstract:** Aeroelastic optimization has become an indispensable component in the evaluation of divergence and flutter characteristics for plated/shell structures. The present paper intends to review the fundamental trends and dominant approaches in the optimal design of engineering constructions. A special attention is focused on the formulation of objective functions/functional and the definition of physical (material) variables, particularly in view of composite materials understood in the broader sense as not only multilayered laminates but also as sandwich structures, nanocomposites, functionally graded materials, and materials with piezoelectric actuators/sensors. Moreover, various original aspects of optimization problems of composite structures are demonstrated, discussed, and reviewed in depth.

Keywords: optimal design; flutter; aeroelastic behavior; plates; shells; advanced materials

# Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Brief Description of the Flutter Problem
- 3. Remarks on the Formulation of Optimization Problems
- 4. **Objective Functions**
- 4.1. Deterministic Approach
- 4.2. Reliability Analysis
- 5. Physical (Material) Design Variables
- 5.1. Composite Materials
- 5.2. Functionally Graded Materials and Nanocomposite Structures—Thermal Protection
- 5.3. Piezoelectric (PZT) Patches–Active and Passive Flutter Control
- 5.4. Sandwich Structures
- 6. Geometric Design Variables
- 6.1. Cross-Section Parameters-Variable (Stepped) Thickness
- 6.2. Form of the Structure
- 7. Numerical (Finite Element) Packages

## 8. Optimization Algorithms

# 9. Concluding Remarks

## 1. Introduction

The concept of the flutter can be described as an instability associated with self-sustained and self-excited vibration which is a combination of elastic, inertial, and aerodynamic forces where the structure and the flow around it interact with each other. The terms "self-sustained" and "self-excited" mean respectively "without external constraint" and "without unsteadiness coming from upstream or downstream". Flutter results in energy exchange between the structure and the fluid, when the structure is self-excited, its vibration induces an unsteady pressure field around the profile sustaining the vibration. The flutter problem usually starts from small mechanical or aerodynamic disturbance above a critical flow velocity, then gives large vibration amplitudes and finally damages in a short period of time.

This phenomenon is a significant problem encountered in the design of aircraft structures [1,2] or turbine blades in the turbomachines (Srinivasan [3]). Flutter is thus a major concern for the designers regarding both the safety and costs.

The current aerospace industry demands innovative designs and materials that offer weight savings, as well as faster and more cost and energy efficient structures. To fulfill these needs from the structural point of view, researchers have proposed the use of laminated composite materials, composite materials with curvilinear fibers, functionally graded materials (FGM), sandwich structures, stiffeners, actuators etc. Aeroelasticity is a crucial discipline in the design and maintenance of an aircraft. At high speeds, the wing twists and vibrates up and down changing the angle of attack. The change in the angle of attack induces a change of the aerodynamic forces, which subsequently affects the angle of attack, resulting in a continuously vibrating system. The phenomenon of self-excited oscillation of a structure, which extracts energy from the airstream, is called aeroelastic flutter. Currently, although numerical tools are more and more reliable, flutter prediction still depends on simplified models and systematic tests.

In the flutter analysis the attention is mainly focused on the discussion of different problems that can affect the structural behavior, i.e., the aerodynamic theories, the form of boundary conditions, the structural geometry (the analysis deals mainly with 2D structures), the material properties and the effects of aerothermoelastic coupling.

Optimal design of flutter characteristics of plated/shell structures is a significant and interesting engineering problem which, in our opinion, is rather poorly investigated in the last decades. For instance, in the Sonmez's review [4] on optimum design of composite structures presented only 5/1007 (flutter speed) and 7/1007 (aerodynamic performance) works. Alijani, Amabili [5] discussed 6/314 works dealing with flutter problems.

The review is generally organized as follows: the brief introduction to the flutter problems is presented in Section 2. In Section 3 the general formulation of the optimization problems is given in order to emphasize the fundamental elements playing the most important role in the optimal design, i.e., the objective functions/functional (Section 4) and design variables—physical/material (Section 5) and geometrical (Section 6). Section 7 is devoted to the short presentation of the existing commercial finite element packages that may be used in the evaluation of the objective functions. The above information is supplemented by the discussion of optimization algorithms applied in the analysis—Section 8. Concluding remarks describing especially the present state-of-art in the area of optimization plated/shell constructions under flutter constraints are presented in Section 9.

The fundamental aim of the present paper is to review the existing literature on optimization of constructions subjected to flutter constraints. A special attention is focused on the proper choice of material properties since they have an important effect on flutter behavior of turbine blades or aircraft wings.

#### 2. Brief Description of the Flutter Problem

Δ

Flutter problem is a complex aerodynamic phenomenon that deals not only with the description of the dynamic behavior of structures but especially with the characterization of the fluid-structure interaction arising during the flow of a fluid over a surface of a construction considered. Table 1 summarizes the possible classification of models used in the analysis.

Туре	Structural Theory	Aerodynamic Theory	Mach Number M
1	Linear	Linear piston theory	$\sqrt{2} \le M \le 5$
2	Linear	Linear potential theory	$1 \leq M \leq 5$
3	Nonlinear	Linear piston theory	$\sqrt{2} \le M \le 5$
4	Nonlinear	Linear potential theory	$1 \leq M \leq 5$
5	Nonlinear	Nonlinear piston theory	M > 5
6	Nonlinear	Navier-Stokes equations	Transonic, supersonic, hypersonic

 Table 1. Classification of flutter models.

Using the linear piston theory, the aerodynamic pressure acting on a curved surface area dA is given by:

$$\Delta p = -\Lambda \left( \frac{\partial w}{\partial x} \cos \vartheta_{\infty} + \frac{\partial w}{\partial y} \sin \vartheta_{\infty} \right) - \mu \frac{\partial w}{\partial t},$$
  

$$\Lambda = \rho_{\infty} V_{\infty}^{2} / \sqrt{M^{2} - 1}, \ \mu = \rho_{\infty} V_{\infty} \left( M^{2} - 2 \right) / \left( M^{2} - 1 \right)^{3/2}$$
(1)

in which  $\rho_{\infty}$ ,  $V_{\infty}$ , and M are the free stream air density, velocity of air, Mach number, respectively, and  $\vartheta_{\infty}$  denotes the flow angle. x and y denote the curvilinear coordinates. Forsching [6] introduced available conditions of using piston theories.

To perform the stability analysis that takes into account the aerodynamic interactions (1) the fundamental set of equations can be reduced to the following form:

$$L_1 w(x, y, t) = L_2 \left( \Delta p + \rho h \frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial t^2} \right)$$
(2)

 $L_1$ ,  $L_2$  are linear differential operators with respect to x, y variables, w denotes the normal to the mid-surface displacements, t is a time and h means the thickness. For the Love-Kirchhoff kinematical hypothesis the explicit form of the differential operators is presented by Bolotin [7,8], Hedgepeth [9], Houbolt [10], Sawyer [11], Bohon [12], Stepanov [13], Muc, Flis [14].

Introducing the Airy stress functions  $\Phi(x,y,t)$  the relation (2) can be written in the equivalent form in terms of the variable  $\Phi(x,y,t)$ –see Bolotin [7,8], Rikards, Teters [15].

The use of the first-order transverse shear deformation theory changes the form of differential operators  $L_1$ ,  $L_2$  but not their order—see e.g., Li, Song [16].

It is worth to note that the relation (2) describes also the thermoelastic and piezoelectric effects by the introduction of the appropriate terms to the functional of the external forces (mechanical, thermal, and electric forces)—see Muc, Flis [14], and Muc et al. [17].

Usually, the flutter phenomenon is characterized by the plots of variations of natural frequencies with aerodynamic pressures—Figure 1. The neighborhood modes approach to each other at the value of the critical aerodynamic pressure that corresponds to the loss of stability. The values of the critical aerodynamic pressures are different for various vibrational modes. As it is shown in Figure 1 the mechanical (material) properties may change drastically both the pre-flutter and post-flutter behavior—the modes of frequency coalescence may be totally different for isotropic and anisotropic structures.



**Figure 1.** Variations of the natural frequencies with aerodynamic pressure. (**a**) Isotropic plates; (**b**) multilayered laminated plates.

The fluttering mode is completely different that natural vibration modes of the structure—see the graphical representation shown in Figure 2.



**Figure 2.** Schematical representation of the pre-flutter (free vibrations) and post-flutter modes (1D cross-section).

The flutter characteristics, demonstrated schematically in Figures 1 and 2, are functions of many parameters. Their effects will be discussed later in view of the optimal design. Early reviews, dealing particularly with parametric investigations, on plate/shell flutter are presented by Fung [18], Dowell [19]. Recent, more comprehensive review of researches in the area of flutter behavior of structures can be found in Pettit [20] and Kouchakzadeh et al. [21].

## 3. Remarks on the Formulation of Optimization Problems

Optimization is increasingly entering many practical engineering tasks, which may cause problems related to the use of appropriate terms and understanding of many concepts. Because of the above-mentioned facts, we will introduce a separate classification of optimization tasks solved later in this work. It mainly covers the problems of structural optimization.

The detailed information about the formulation of various optimization problems can be found in Reference [22].

To formulate an optimization problem it is necessary to define the following quantities/ parameters/functions/functionals:

- A vector of design variables and a space of design variables;
- An objective function or an objective functional;
- A set of constraints in the form of equality or inequality.

In this section, we intend to present only general aspects of this problem, especially those related to the numerical procedures used by the authors. Detailed formulations of specific optimization problems are given in the next sections.

The solution of any engineering problem is determined by a set of independent variables, which can be called design variables  $\vec{s}$  not only in optimization problems. We assume that the vector  $\vec{s}$  has I independent components. Depending on the formulation of the optimization problem, each of the design variables  $s_i$  can be represented as:

Continuous real variable, i.e.,

$$s_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 1, 2, \dots, I$$
 (3)

Discrete variable, i.e.,

$$s_i \in C = \{c_1, c_2 \dots\}, i = 1, 2, \dots, I; c_p \in R \text{ or } c_p \in N$$
 (4)

The spaces of decision variables defined by formulas (3) and (4) (the superscript means the type of design variable to be used) are able to describe all possible changes in the design variables considered in a given optimization problem and are therefore referred to free search space (FSS), in contrast to the area on which constraints are imposed.

Constraints (in the form of inequality or equality) resulting from the analysis of the physical phenomenon or due to technological considerations are the only limitations of the optimization problems analyzed herein. They can be written the following way:

$$g_i(\vec{s}) \le 0, \, j = 1, 2, \, \dots \, J$$
 (5)

$$h_k(\vec{s}) \le 0, \, k = 1, 2, \dots K$$
 (6)

Again, for generality of the numerical procedures developed herein, we formulate the optimization problem as searching for the maximum of the objective function/functional *f*:

$$Max f(\vec{s}) \tag{7}$$

In order to generalize the numerical analysis of various optimization problems discussed in the further part of the work, the *Min* or *MinMax* search problem is transformed in a classical way (only in a numerical program) to the task of searching for the maximum.

For a given type of space of design variables S ((3) or (4)), the optimization problem (5)–(7) will be expressed through three symbols:

$$\langle S, f, \phi \rangle$$
 where  $\phi(s) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ (true) conditions (5), (6) are satisfied} \\ 0 \text{ (false) conditions (5), (6) are not satisfied} \end{cases}$  (8)

where  $\phi(s)$  is a Boolean function and S denotes the space of design variables.

A different classification method is associated with the type of design variables defined as both real or discrete variables. Generally, we can distinguish three types of variables:

- In dimensional (parametric) optimization, design variables determine the structure thickness distribution and its parameters characterizing the cross-section;
- In shape optimization, these are the describing variables:

- i. The geometry (and thus also the shape) of the outer edge of the structure;
- ii. The geometry of the mid-surface of the structures (beams, plates, shells).
- iii. In the optimization of the topological structure, the design variables define:
- iv. The manner of connection of elements, areas, or components of the structure;
- v. The number and spatial distribution of structure elements;
- vi. Material distribution in the structure.

In designing the optimal topology of the structure, the set of design variables may change in the optimization process.

The above definition was introduced by Kirsch [23] in 1989 and identical classification is presented in monograph [24] published in 2002. The author of the cited works indicates that in many cases the problems are being solved, in which changes of topological, geometric, and dimensional variables are simultaneously made (see e.g., [25]) and such tasks are called lay-out optimization in English, which we think it is best to translate it as structure optimization. However, at the end of the 1980 s, Bendsøe [26,27] introduced the concept of topological optimization, which means also the changes in the material distribution in the structure. In monograph [28], it is explained that in fact topological optimization is understood as the optimization of the material structure constituting the structure, in the sense of searching for the optimal material density  $\rho(x)$  associated with the mechanical properties of the material through the relation:

$$C_{ijkl}(\mathbf{x}) = \rho(\mathbf{x})C_{ijkl}^0 \tag{9}$$

with a constraint condition in the form of:

$$\int_{\Omega} \rho(\mathbf{x}) \le V \tag{10}$$

where [C] is the stiffness matrix. The concept of topological optimization therefore includes a full set of design variables that combine dimension, shape, topological, and material-related design variables. However, this above generalization should not be confused with a strictly understood definition of topology and understood strictly in the theory of optimization of topological variables.

In the optimization of constructions made of composite materials, lay-out optimization of composite structures is the most adequate instead of topological optimization. This is due to the fact that the topological optimization is mainly associated with the term of the material homogenization. In our opinion, the most reasonable seems to be the use of the definition: the optimization of the structure of composite materials with the simultaneous distinction of the level of analysis, i.e., it is possible to optimize at the level:

- Elementary cell,
- Individual layer,
- Laminate.

This is necessary because on each of the above-mentioned levels of analysis, CM introduce different types of design variables including both the geometry and the type of reinforcement, matrix, and interfacial layer or the orientation of individual layers, individual thickness of individual layers, and their material properties. The set of design variables describing the structure of CM is an arrangement of geometrical and physical variables that characterize (at a given level of analysis) unambiguously the physical properties of CM. The next difference between the definitions proposed in this book and the Bendsøe approach [27] lies in the possibility of describing the structure by other design variables that characterize the problem's physics, namely dimensional and shape optimization variables describing the geometry of the problem. In this sense, we use two types of design variables at the present work:

Physical (material) representing the CM structure from which the structure is made;

• Geometric—characterizing the geometry of the structure.

The concept of physical variables relates directly to the issues of material design. It refers to the design of physical properties of a composite material by changing the matrix and reinforcement material as well as the geometrical features of the reinforcement. In the second case, this can be done by changing the size, shape, or distribution of the reinforcing elements or only their orientation and stacking sequences.

In the case of geometric variables, we can proceed in two ways:

- Only by selecting the material when looking for the optimal distribution of the laminate thickness, the thickness and shape of the reinforcing patches, the shape of the middle surface of the structure, or the shape of the edge;
- By designing a new material, if in the above problems there are additional constraints (technological, geometric, etc.,) that none of the currently available materials meet.

It should be emphasized that the work also uses the term laminate configuration regarding a set of design variables describing the CM structure at the lamination level and referring directly to the term laminate configuration used in the Anglo-Saxon literature. This concept should not be confused with the term combinatorial configuration introduced in mathematical combinatorial, because in mathematics it has a completely different meaning.

## 4. Objective Functions

Basic mathematical formulations of design objectives are subjected to various uncertainties inherent in structural, material, damage parameters, etc., which are modeled by random variables. They can be taken into account (or not), so that possible definitions of design objectives are divided into two groups, i.e., deterministic and reliability based optimization problems. In literature both formulations are treated equivalently.

#### 4.1. Deterministic Approach

Structures with some flutter requirements (constraints) can be optimized using computationally different strategies determined by the introduction of various forms of objective functions. Optimization (maximization) of flutter speed (bound–see Figure 1) is a central concept in the design of plated/shell structures. However, the formulation of the problem can be carried in different way given below:

• The direct formulation of the problem (Muc, Flis [14]):

$$Max\lambda(s_i)$$
 (11)

• The implicit formulation with a bound (Song, Li, Carrera, Hagedorn [29]):

$$Max \sqrt{\lambda^2(s_i) - \lambda_e^2} \tag{12}$$

• The implicit formulation with a bound (Guo [30]):

$$Min \left[1 - \frac{\lambda(s_i) - \lambda_e}{\lambda_e}\right]^2 \tag{13}$$

• The maximization of weighted sum of the critical aerodynamic pressures under different probability density function of flow orientations (Li, Narita [31]):

$$Max \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \lambda(s_i = \vartheta_{\infty})c(s_i = \vartheta_{\infty})d\vartheta_{\infty} \text{ where } \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} c(s_i = \vartheta_{\infty})d\vartheta_{\infty} = 1$$
(14)

The maximization of natural frequencies related to the vibration modes involved in the flutter phenomenon called as aeroelastic optimization method by finite difference (AOMFD). (De Leon et al. [32], the frequency regulation problems are also discussed by Katsikadelis, Babouskos [33])

$$Max[\omega^2(\lambda(s_i))] \tag{15}$$

• A minimum weight wing W subject to divergence/flutter constraints (Kameyama, Fukunaga [34])

$$MinW \text{ where } \lambda(s_i) \le \lambda_e \tag{16}$$

• Maximization of the flutter critical parameter *Q*<sub>crit</sub>, i.e., a function of the panel's stiffnesses, damping, and dynamic pressure of the free-stream. (Vijay, Durvasulah [35])

$$MaxQ_{crit}(s_i)$$
 (17)

• The uncertainty problem—the minimization of the additional masses  $w_i$  added to the wing construction and satisfying the frequency constraint (Kuttenkeuler, Ringertz [36])

$$Min\left[W + \sum_{i=1}^{12} (w_i = s_i)\right] \text{ and } \omega^2(s_i) \le \omega_e^2$$
(18)

#### 4.2. Reliability Analysis

In the aeroelastic analysis the reliability based design optimization problems constitute a special class of optimization tasks that are formulated in quite different manner that the deterministic objective functions discussed, previously including also the problem (18). The general approach to this class of problems can be found in References [37,38].

The combined use of sophisticated measurement techniques, computational simulations, and a numerical identification tool for the model parameters may result in a powerful method for material characterization of mechanical properties and damage analysis. However, in such an analysis the knowledge of a great number of various factors is required and the validity of a pure deterministic modeling is always not complete because of the scatter of experimental data. Thus, many engineering problems connected with the use of composite materials are (or may be) too complex and ill-defined to be modeled by conventional deterministic procedures. On the other hand, the use of statistical analysis is also limited to: (1) The number of experimental data (the extension of random fields of variables); (2) the definition of covariance matrices since the majority of random variables are correlated in an arbitrary manner; and (3) computational efforts in the analysis of multidimensional statistical (stochastic) problems.

In general, reliability based optimization problem ensures that failure does not occur above the allowable probability, i.e.,

$$MinP[f_{crit}(s_i) \le f_e] \tag{19}$$

where *P* denotes the probability,  $f_{crit}$  is the objective function of the optimization (flutter speed, eigenfrequency, weight–see (Equations (11)–(17)), and  $f_e$  means the design value of the objective function. For the sake of the simplicity of the aeroelastic analysis the problem (19) is usually rewritten as the MinMax or MaxMin problem (see Muc, Kędziora [38]) referring to the graphical representation plotted in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Optimal fuzzy logic solution.

Pettit [20] pointed out that uncertainty (imprecision) should be taken into account in the case of too conservative, inefficient designs or due to adoption of new technologies and techniques. Modelling of aeroelastic characteristics with uncertain elastic moduli and Poisson's ratio was introduced by Murugan et al. [39,40]. Liaw [41], Manan, Cooper [42], Scarth et al [43] estimated the flutter speed of a composite plate with uncertainty in the ply orientations, thickness, elastic moduli, and material and air densities. Pettit, Beran [44] analysed oscillations of an aerofoil with uncertain pitching stiffness and angle of attack. Scarth, Cooper [45] investigated the influence of material variability on stability margins in flutter characteristics. Various linear and nonlinear aeroelastic problems were formulated and solved with the aid of the reliability based design optimization methods in Refs [46–53] and even the results were compared with the results obtained with the use of deterministic optimization methods Nikbay et al. [46,52,53]. The criteria considered can include probabilistic/fuzzy constraints with both structural and aerodynamic uncertainties.

# 5. Physical (Material) Design Variables

## 5.1. Composite Materials

Considering composite multilayered fibrous composites it is possible to investigate three different categories of 2D composite constructions:

- Plain fibers covering the whole structure—Figure 4a;
- Plain fibers having the identical direction in the part of the structure—Figure 4b;
- Curvilinear fibers—Figure 4c.



**Figure 4.** Possible constructions of the individual layers made of 2D fibers: (**a**) plain fibers, (**b**) plain fibers in the fragment of the structure, (**c**) curvilinear fibers.

- Constant as  $(x, y) \in \Omega$
- Constant as  $(x, y) \in \Omega_i$ ,  $U_i \Omega_i = \Omega$ , i > 1
- Variable as  $(x, y) \in \Omega$

where  $\Omega$  denotes the 2D space occupied by plated/shell structures and (*x*,*y*) are the coordinates defined in the 2D curvilinear space corresponding to the plate/shell mid-surface. For fibrous composites the 2D stiffness matrices [A] (extensional), [B] (flexural–extensional coupling), and [D] (flexural) are defined in the classical way:

$$[A] = \int_{-t/2}^{t/2} [Q]dz, \ [B] = \int_{-t/2}^{t/2} [Q]zdz, \ [D] = \int_{-t/2}^{t/2} [Q]z^2dz$$
(20)

[Q] is the reduced stiffness constants of the materials determined from the transformation relationships for each of the *l*-th layer, separately:

$$[Q] = [T^{(l)}]^{Tr}[C][T^{(l)}], [C] = \begin{bmatrix} E_1/(1-\nu_{12}\nu_{21}) & \nu_{21}E_1/(1-\nu_{12}\nu_{21}) & 0\\ \nu_{21}E_1/(1-\nu_{12}\nu_{21}) & E_2/(1-\nu_{12}\nu_{21}) & 0\\ 0 & 0 & G_{12} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$[T^{(l)}] = \begin{bmatrix} c^2 & s^2 & sc\\ s^2 & c^2 & -sc\\ -2sc & 2sc & c^2 - s^2 \end{bmatrix}, s = \sin(\theta^{(l)}), c = \cos(\theta^{(l)})$$
(21)

For the curvilinear fiber format (Figure 4c) the number of design variables is equal to the number of parameters defining the curve  $\theta(x,y)$ —see Muc, Ulatowska [54,55]. For angle-ply laminates ( $\pm \theta$ ) one design variable determines the allowable orientations in the case plotted in Figure 4a and the number of domains  $\Omega_i$  in the case shown in Figure 4b. The number of design variables increases for arbitrary orientations in each of the plies constituting laminate. For the Love-Kirchhoff hypothesis the laminate configuration is represented by 12 lamination parameters in the domain  $\Omega$  (or each of the domains  $\Omega_i$ ). It grows further for transverse shear deformation theories—see Muc [56].

It is possible to reduce the total number of design variables by introducing the pairs of discrete fiber orientations  $\{0_{2}^{0}, \pm 45^{0}, 90_{2}^{0}\}$ —each of the plies has an identical thickness t/N. For symmetrically laminated plates/shells all terms in the stiffness matrix [B] are equal to zero and the plate/shell stiffnesses are characterized by twelve nonzero parameters, i.e., A<sub>11</sub>, A<sub>12</sub>, A<sub>22</sub>, A<sub>66</sub>, A<sub>16</sub>, A<sub>26</sub>, and D<sub>11</sub>, D<sub>12</sub>, D<sub>22</sub>, D<sub>66</sub>, D<sub>16</sub>, D<sub>26</sub>—see Muc [57]. However, they are not independent and can be expressed by four natural values: N<sub>0</sub>—the number of pair of plies oriented at 0<sup>0</sup>, N<sub>90</sub>—the number of pair of plies oriented at 90<sup>0</sup> and:

$$N_{0}^{D} = \sum_{l=1}^{N/4} [3l(l-1) + 1] \text{ for plies oriented at } 0^{0}$$

$$N_{90}^{D} = \sum_{l=1}^{N/4} [3l(l-1) + 1] \text{ for plies oriented at } 90^{0}$$
(22)

In addition, knowing the values  $N_0^D$ ,  $N_{90}^D$  it is possible to derive the corresponding numbers of plies  $N_0$ ,  $N_{90}$  although the mapping is not unique—Muc [58]. Therefore, the space (plane)  $N_0^D$ ,  $N_{90}^D$  seems to be the most convenient representation of the optimization results—Figure 5. To compare discrete with angle-ply (continuous) fiber orientations it is better to introduce the following definition:

$$x_D = \frac{4}{t^3} \sum_{l=1}^{N} \left( z_l^3 - z_{l-1}^3 \right) \cos(2\theta^{(l)}), y_D = \frac{4}{t^3} \sum_{l=1}^{N} \left( z_l^3 - z_{l-1}^3 \right) \cos^2(2\theta^{(l)})$$
(23)



Figure 5. The design space for discrete and continuous fiber orientations.

A lot of papers studied the influence of the fiber orientations, stacking sequences, and fiber mechanical properties on critical aerodynamic speed [21,59–68]. Hertz et al. [69] called the above process as aeroelastic tailoring, i.e., the design that makes use of the directional properties of fibrous composite materials in wing skins and orients these materials in optimum directions—see also References [70–88]. In different papers the dominant role of the bending stiffness D<sub>11</sub> is observed. Vijay, Durvasulah [35] introduced the critical parameter (17) as the value divided by the D<sub>11</sub> value. The similar effects were noticed by Muc, Flis [14], Rikards, Teters [15]—see Figure 6. It is interesting to note that the decrease of the aerodynamic critical pressure with the growth of the fiber orientations (the angle-ply configuration is considered) is almost insensitive to the form of boundary condition and the orthotropy ratio  $E_L/E_T$ .



**Figure 6.** Variations of the normalized critical pressures for square angle-ply plates ( $L_x/L_y = 1$ ,  $E_L/E_T = 40$ ).

Steering and control fiber orientations in finite elements (Figure 4b) combined with topology optimization is discussed by Muc et al. [89,90] Figure 7 shows the example of possible solutions for three discrete fiber orientations considered (i.e.,  $\{0_2^0, \pm 45^0, 90_2^0\}$ ).

Figure 7. Optimal fiber orientation in the flat square plate.

It has been noticed that the flutter maximal speed can be increased or decreased depending on the variable fiber spacing—Shih-Yao Kuo [91]. Stodieck et al. [92,93] studied the aeroelastic behavior of rectangular composite wing. Tow-steered composites were used to tailor the aeroelastic behavior, and they showed a good performance over traditional unidirectional composite laminates. The identical conclusion to the above was formulated later in References [92–101]. Stodieck et al. [94] assessed the potential wing weight savings of a full-size aeroelastically tailored wing. It turned out that optimized tow-steered laminates achieve much better mass reductions than optimized straight fiber composites. Haddadpour and Zamani [95] investigated the aeroelastic design of composite wings with curvilinear fiber which were modelled as thin-walled beams. The wing was optimized with a linear spanwise variation of the fiber orientation to maximize the aeroelastic instability speed. It was shown that much improved aeroelastic stability was achieved by the optimal variable stiffness wings compared with the conventional, constant-stiffness ones. Stanford et al. [96] studied the aeroelastic tailoring of a cantilevered flat plate in low-speed flow, locating the Pareto front between static aeroelastic stresses and dynamic flutter boundaries using a genetic algorithm. Guimaraes et al. [97] investigated the flutter behavior of tow-steered composite panels using the Ritz method combined with supersonic aerodynamic piston theory. The flutter stability boundaries for constant stiffness laminates and variable stiffness laminates were compared. Akhavan and Ribeiro [98] studied the aeroelastic instability of variable stiffness composite laminates in supersonic airflow. A third-order shear deformation theory and linear piston theory were used for structural and aerodynamic modelling, respectively. The p-version finite element method was adopted to discretize the aeroelastic model. The effects of boundary conditions, fiber angles and airflow direction on the flutter and divergence occurrence were investigated. Khalafi and Fazilati [99] developed an enhanced isogeometric finite element method to investigate the free vibration and the linear flutter characteristics of variable stiffness square and skew laminated plates. Their results were compared with those in the literature to verify the accuracy and effectiveness. Ouyang and Liu [100] researched the nonlinear flutter behavior of tow-steered composite laminates in high supersonic flow using finite element method, and investigated the effects of boundary conditions and fiber orientation on the nonlinear flutter behavior.

## 5.2. Functionally Graded Materials and Nanocomposite Structures—Thermal Protection

Since 2000, numerous investigations were devoted to the study on flutter analysis of structures made of functionally graded materials (FGMs) [32], [101–125] and of nanocomposites (NC) [126–146]. In this area the parametric investigations (not always optimal search for solutions) dealt with the analysis of flutter characteristics of structures especially in view of thermal protection.

The stiffness and mass distribution of the wing or the blade structure both have effects on the aeroelastic properties. Functionally graded materials and nanocomposites have continuously varying properties by spatially varying the distribution of two (or more) materials—see the relations (9), (10). Various gradient strategies can be applied at the different directions of the wing/blade—Figure 8.

FGMs/NCs enable changes in structural stiffness, thermal and mass distribution without necessarily requiring a geometric change in the structural geometry.



Figure 8. Property grading across the chord-wise/span-wise/thickness direction.

The effective material properties are usually obtained by a linear rule of mixture, assuming the prescribed volume (density) fraction of the FG/NC material (a grading function usually in the form of the power function).

Three types of FGM/NC constructions can be analyzed—see Figure 9:

1. Ceramic/metal (FGM) structures with ceramic (C) and metal (M) isotropic properties and the prescribed form of a grading function having an unknown power law coefficient n.

$$E_{FGM} = E_m(1 - V_C) + E_C V_C, V_C = \left(\frac{z}{t} + \frac{1}{2}\right)^n, 0 \le n < \infty, -\frac{t}{2} \le z \le \frac{t}{2}$$
(24)

2. Sandwich structures made of a FGM core and laminated faces; the core Young's modulus can be determined from the following relation:

$$E_{FGM} = E_{s} \left[ \left( 1 - \frac{\rho_{FGM}}{\rho_{s}} \right)^{2} \frac{\rho_{FGM}^{2}}{\rho_{s}^{2}} + \frac{\rho_{FGM}^{2}}{\rho_{s}^{2}} \right]$$
(25)

where  $E_{FGM}$  and  $\rho_{FGM}$  (grading function) are the Young's modulus and mass density of the core, respectively;  $E_s$  and  $\rho_s$  are the Young's modulus and mass density of the solid material.

3. Carbon nanotubes (CNT) embedded in the matrix–orthotropic properties of CNTs (four material constants), Young's modulus of the matrix, and the volume fraction and distribution of CNTs (Ref [118]).



Figure 9. Forms of the material constructions used as the thermal protection.

For material 1 the total number of design variables is reduced to three (two Young's moduli and the power law coefficient), whereas for material 2 with isotropic faces also to the identical three design variables as previously. The material 3 has seven independent design variables. For material 2 with laminated faces the number of design variables increases and it is equal to the number of variables discussed in Section 5.1 plus two characterizing the FGM core. Let us note that for three design

variables the optimization studies can be replaced by the parametric analysis describing the influence of all parameters. Similarly the influence of material properties and CNTs distributions on flutter characteristics are investigated by the parametric analysis only.

The majority of works is devoted to the investigations of flutter characteristics and the aerodynamic performance of rectangular panels made of the material 1 (ceramic/metal)—References [101–108,110,114,116,119,121,124]. In two papers [111,119] the similar analysis as mentioned in the previous sequence was carried for beam structures and in one paper [123] for a pipe conveying fluid. The studies were mainly focused on the problems of the thermal protection and were limited to the parametric considerations.

Sandwich structures with FGM core (material 2) were applied in the analysis of flutter problems of beams [112], panels [110], doubly curved shells [113,117], and truncated conical shells [115].

In the numerous references shown in this section in two papers only [109,110] the authors employed optimization algorithms to investigate the flutter behavior in detail. Peng; Xiaoping [109] analyzed the rectangular sandwich structures having laminated facesheets and FGM core with three types of linearly grading strategies. The authors conducted the optimal design of facesheets using the lamination parameters. Dunning et al. [110] used the similar grading strategy as in the previous work to optimize the aeroelastic performance of an aluminum alloy and AlSiC cantilever plate. The authors implemented genetic algorithms and the Pareto method.

The optimal choice of the grading strategy can be solved properly with the use of the topology optimization strategies. The most general approach should be based on the topology optimization of various material distributions inside the structure. For plates made of porous material De Leon et al. [32] analyzed the variable material distribution assuming the existence of two possible materials: one with the defined mechanical properties and the second (pores) with the zeroth properties.

Recently a large volume of literature has also studied the supersonic flutter behaviors of nanocomposite structures. In general, the analysis demonstrated the necessity of the use of higher order transverse shear deformation theories in order to evaluate correctly the vibrational modes—References [126–130]. The flutter speed of CNT-reinforced composite plated/shell structures does not always increase with an increase in CNT volume fraction.

The third material discussed in this Section cannot be classified as the classical FG material; however, it is mainly connected with the application of nanocomposites to thermal protection problems which belongs directly to the area of possible application of functionally graded materials. These studies are presented in References [118,120,125].

Asadi et al. [131–137] investigated the aeroelastic flutter behaviors of carbon nanotube (CNT)-reinforced composite beams, flat panels, cylindrical shells, conical shells, and truncated conical curved panels in supersonic airflow. The flutter behavior of nanocomposite (CNT) cylindrical shells was studied by Zhang et al. [138–142]. Various physical problems connected with nanocomposites, flutter, and fluid behavior were discussed in References [143–147].

#### 5.3. Piezoelectric (PZT) Patches-Active and Passive Flutter Control

A broad discussion of optimization problems (vibration and buckling) and methods encountered in the analysis of laminated structures reinforced by PZT patches was presented in References [17,148,149]. Usually, the optimization technique was applied to find the best geometry of the location of PZT actuators/sensors on the top/bottom surfaces of structures. The basic structure to be investigated is shown in Figure 10 where a panel, either flat or cylindrical, has two equal piezoelectric layers attached to the top and bottom surfaces. This voltage makes the laminate structure deform. Both the shape and the location of PZT patches are treated as design variables.



Figure 10. Illustration of: (a) The laminated panel and (b) the laminate cross-section.

Usually, in optimal design of structures with S/As two forms of the response function are considered. They are directly connected with the active control of structural deformations. The first type of the response function *R* can be identified with the magnitude of displacements (total or components)—see Figure 2. Such an optimization problem can be formulated both for static and dynamic problems (active damping). In the second case the natural frequency can be treated as the response function. Now, the application of active control is becoming increasingly important especially for flutter characteristics (Figure 1). Piezoelectric materials have been applied in structural vibration control to take advantage of their fast response, their flexibility to be used as S/As in a large variety of applications, and the fact that they provide broadband frequency responses. Smart structures, which contain main structures and distributed piezoelectric S/As, can simultaneously detect certain vibration modes and generate control forces to reduce the vibration of the structures.

Various problems referring to the flutter suppression by PZT patches (applying passive or active control to eliminate instability) were studied in References [150–176]. Even up to a 49% flutter velocity enhancement has been achieved by using piezoelectric actuation.

The use of piezoelectric control of dynamic instability seems to be a powerful tool in changing the flutter characteristics. However, we do not intend herein to discuss the achievements of different approaches but to indicate only this problem and to demonstrate the variety of existing works. In our opinion, it is necessary to emphasize only that the location of the PZT patches is commonly selected with the use of optimization algorithms, e.g., in the form of genetic algorithms—see Song et al. [29].

## 5.4. Sandwich Structures

Sandwich constructions usually consists of two faces which are kept separated by a core. Because of the increasing number of new materials the different materials may be utilized as the facings and the core. Some of them used in the aircraft constructions and optimized with respect to the divergence or flutter behavior are given below: lattice sandwich panel [177], blade stiffened panel [178], rotated sandwich plates [179–186], PVC foam laminated wing [187–190], honeycomb with MR pockets [191], sandwich panels with CNT facesheets [192,193], FGM foam—Section 5.2.

The additional design variables introduced by the structure of sandwich constructions are directly connected with the form of cores. At the end of the present section we intend to summarize the number and the form of design variables characterizing the different materials used in the construction of structures that may fail by the loss of dynamic instability (flutter). They are presented in Table 2.

Multilayered Composite Laminates						
Angle-Ply	Discrete 0/45/90	Curvilinear Fiber Format	FGM	Nanocomposites	PZT	Sandwich
1	4	Parameters defining the characteristic curve	Mechanical prope Parameters defini	erties of the constituents ng the grading function	Voltage Positions of the patches	Mechanical properties of the core

Table 2. Number of material design variables.

For material design variables the optimization algorithms are commonly employed in the derivation of optimal stacking sequences of laminates and in searching for the optimal positions of piezoelectric actuators. The optimization algorithms can be also used in defining of grading functions. In this case the topology optimization methods should be adopted to this class of problems.

# 6. Geometric Design Variables

Wings are the most critical elements in the structural systems of aircrafts. In general, problems encountered in this area are connected with the geometric representation of two parameters/quantities: (1) the wing section parameters and (2) the wing profile parameters. To reduce the complexity and the cost of optimization process it is necessary to introduce an appropriate parameterization. In References [194,195] it is demonstrated that the distributions of design variables mentioned above can be written as 2D curves representing not only the shape of the edge of the structure or its mid-surface, but also dimensional optimization (e.g., thickness) or topology optimization (distributions: density, volume fraction of the constituents or material with different Young's modulus). The general method of constructing curves on the *x*-*y* plane is demonstrated in detail using cubic spline functions of various types and the theoretical introduction is supplemented by the numerical solutions of different problems. It is worth to mention that Skinner, Zare-Behtash [196] discussed state-of-the-art in aerodynamic shape optimization methods in a different manner that are presented herein.

## 6.1. Cross-Section Parameters-Variable (Stepped) Thickness

The cross-section of a wing is characterized by many parameters describing not only the size of the profile (the skin thickness, spar or rib sectional area) but also the shape of the profile (rectangular, parabolic), rib/spar locations, and the total number of spars/ribs—see References [197–201]. The fundamental aim of the analysis is to design the thickness distribution satisfying the criterion (16) (the minimum weight of a structure). Several studies were performed in this area. The solutions of such optimization problems were demonstrated in References [34,202–208]. The similar analysis was carried out for the tiltrotor composite wings (complicated shapes of the blade)—References [209–218].

#### 6.2. Form of the Structure

Aeroelastic characteristics of subsonic and supersonic structures are analyzed for different forms of 2D mid-surfaces and types of loading and boundary conditions. Now, we intend to distinguish the fundamental forms of structures considered in the literature and to present the supplementary references devoted to structural analysis, but not always to the optimization problems in the discussed area.

Usually, in view of the aeroelastic behavior the following structures are investigated:

- Beams—References [219–236],
- Flat plates (triangular, rectangular, trapezoidal)—References [237–245],
- Panels: cylindrical [246–255], spherical [256,257], truncated conical [258–263],
- Cylindrical shells—References [264–270].

In our opinion, the work presented in this section should help the readers to recognize the differences in the approach to different types of structures and maybe to adopt the approaches to their own optimization problems.

#### 7. Numerical (Finite Element) Packages

The numerical (finite element) study on supersonic panel flutter has received much attention in literatures. Finite element method to panel flutter analysis by Olson [271] in 1967 and then the review of existing works was presented by Bismarck-Nasr [272,273]. Many of the researchers have built their own procedures to analyze flutter problems. The flutter analysis can be also investigated with the use of commercial FE packages as e.g., Ansys, Nastran, Abaqus, or Nisa II Family of Programs (Nisa/Areo). Recently, the package ZEUS (ZONA) [274,275] is a new proposal for aeroelastic design/analysis.

The advantages of the application of the finite element packages are obvious since they allow us:

- To introduce different variants of boundary conditions;
- To investigate arbitrary laminate configurations with no elimination of the B<sub>ij</sub>, A<sub>16</sub>, A<sub>26</sub>, D<sub>16</sub>, D<sub>26</sub> terms in the stiffness matrices;
- To use the first order transverse shear shell/plate theories instead of the simplest Love-Kirchhoff theories.

However, they have also different disadvantages and the following problems can be emphasized as the most significant:

- The problems with the accuracy of solved flutter problems;
- The problems with the solution of the optimization problems, particularly for laminated structures where non-uniqueness of solutions is commonly encountered.

#### 8. Optimization Algorithms

Various optimization algorithms can be applied in the optimization of aerothermoelastic problems. Usually, the quality of the optimized design depends upon the quality of the starting point. Thus, to enhance the quality of preliminary design it is better to apply gradient free/heuristic methods, such as for instance genetic algorithms, evolutionary algorithms, particle swarm optimization methods or simulated annealing—see Muc [22,89,276]. It is not expected to improve (reduce) the computational time needed for the search but it is necessary to obtain better than for starting points values (not necessarily global optimum) of the objective function/functional.

A lot of efforts have been put into the introduction and application of effective optimization algorithms in the design of 2-D or 3-D laminated plated and shell structures. On the other hand, because of anisotropy and inhomogeneity these structures show rather complicated states of stresses and strains such that several adequate mechanical models for composites structures have been developed in recent years—see e.g., [1,2]. However, those models may be successfully implemented into optimization problems using FE models and procedures only since analytical approach is impossible (e.g., for complicated loading and boundary conditions) or may lead to very complicated formula. Such an analysis have been conducted by the author and presented in References [3,6]. In the present paper we intend to focus our attention on the extension of the optimization analysis into the field of the uncertainty of mechanical properties of composite materials. It will be done with the use of the fuzzy set—the details of the formulation of various mechanical problems for composites in a fuzzy set environment are presented in Reference [7].

A unified, consistent approach to various optimization problems in a fuzzy environment is based on an appropriate conjunction of four elements: (1) Definition and coding of design variables describing the analyzed structures, (2) optimization algorithms, (3) a FE code and (4) a fuzzy set formulation of variability (uncertainty) of mechanical properties. The latter problem is formulated with the use of appropriate membership functions. All abovementioned elements are or may be formulated independently and this is the significant advantage of the proposed approach since using the proposed methodology it is possible to formulate and solve completely different optimization problems. The flowchart of the general optimization method with the use of the numerical FE approach is demonstrated in Figure 11.



Figure 11. The flowchart of the general, numerical optimization scheme.

# 9. Concluding Remarks

A unified, consistent approach to various optimization problems subjected to flutter constraints is presented and discussed in the work. By combining optimization objectives (any of those written by the relations (11)–(19)) with the assumed forms of the design variables (materials–Section 5 and geometric–Section 6) the selected objective functions/functional can be found with the aid of the numerical code (Section 7). The allowable set of equality and inequality constraints is included during the evaluation of the objective. Then implementing optimization algorithms or varying values of design variables the fitness landscape (demonstrating variations of the objective with design variables) can be built and the global optimum can be found.

The presented review demonstrates evidently that:

- 1. The majority of considerations is based on the parametric investigations by observing the influence of various effects on values of objective functions; it is especially visible in problems dealing with geometric design variables;
- 2. The optimization algorithms (evolutionary techniques) are mainly employed in three groups of problems:
  - a. Searching for the optimal stacking sequences in laminated structures or sandwich structures with laminated facesheets; in the paper a special attention is focused on the reduction of the total number of design variables for multilayered laminate constructions;
  - b. Location and final shapes of piezoelectric actuators/sensors used in the active or passive control of the structural response;
  - c. Variable thickness optimization of structures.
- 3. The broader use of optimization methods is, in our opinion, required in the following class of problems:
  - a. Shape optimization of structures considered, particularly in view of their loss of dynamic stability (geometric design variables);
  - b. Topology optimization of grading functions introduced for ceramic/metal (functionally graded materials) and/or nanocomposites reinforced with carbon nanostructures

We hope that the presented review can help the readers in choosing their own path in the optimal design of structures subjected to flutter constraints.

**Author Contributions:** Conceptualization, A.M., J.F. and M.A.; methodology, A.M.; software, A.M.; formal analysis, A.M.; writing—original draft preparation, A.M.; writing—review and editing, J.F. and M.A; visualization, A.M. and J.F.; supervision, A.M.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

**Conflicts of Interest:** The authors declare no conflict of interest.

# References

- Livne, E.; Weisshaar, T.A. Aeroelasticity of Nonconventional airplane configurations past and future. *J. Aircr.* 2003, 40, 1047–1065. [CrossRef]
- 2. Kumar, B.; De Remer, D.; Marshall, D. *An Illustrated Dictionary of Aviation;* McGraw-Hill: New York, NY, USA, 2005.
- 3. Srinivasan, A. Flutter and resonant vibration characteristics of engine blades. *ASME J. Eng. Gas Turbine Power* **1997**, *119*, 742–775. [CrossRef]
- Sonmez, F.O. Optimum design of composite structures: A literature survey (1969–2009). J. Reinf. Plast. Compos. 2016, 36, 3–39. [CrossRef]
- 5. Alijani, F.; Amabili, M. Non-linear vibrations of shells: A literature review from 2003 to 2013. *Int. J. Non-Linear Mech.* 2014, *58*, 233–257. [CrossRef]
- 6. Försching, H.W. Grundlagen der Aeroelastik; Springer: Berlin, Germany, 1974.
- 7. Bolotin, V.V. Nonconservative Problems of the Theory of Elastic Stability; Pergamon Press: Oxford, UK, 1961.
- 8. Bolotin, V.V. Nonlinear flutter of plates and shells. *Inzhenerny Zbornyk* **1960**, *28*, 55–75. (In Russian)
- 9. Hedgepeth, J.M. On the flutter of panels at high mach numbers. Readers forum. *J. Aeronaut. Sci.* **1956**, *23*, 609–610.
- 10. Houbolt, J.C. A Study of Several Aerothermoelastic Problems of Aircraft Structures in High Speed Flight Dissertation. Ph.D. Thehis, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, Zurich, Switzerland, 1958.
- 11. Sawyer, J.W. Flutter of Elastically Supported Orthotropic Panels Including the Effects of Flow Angle; Technical Note TN D-7491; NASA: Washington, DC, USA, 1974.
- 12. Bohon, H.L. Flutter of Flat Rectangular Orthotropic Panels with Biaxial Loading and Arbitrary Flow Direction; Technical Note TN D-1949; NASA: Washington, DC, USA, 1963.
- 13. Stepanov, R.D. Flutter of cylindrical shells and panels. *Prikl. Matemat. i Mekh (PMM) Doklady ANSSR* **1957**, 21, 644–657. (In Russian)
- 14. Muc, A.; Flis, J. Closed form solutions—Analysis and optimal design of supersonic composite laminated flat plates considering mechanical and thermal effects. *Compos. Struct.* **2019**, *230*, 11491. [CrossRef]
- 15. Rikards, R.B.; Teters, G.A. Stability of Composite Shells; Zinatne: Riga, Latvia, 1974. (In Russian)
- 16. Li, F.-M.; Song, Z.-G. Aeroelastic flutter analysis for 2D Kirchhoff and Mindlin panels with different boundary conditions in supersonic airflow. *Acta Mech.* **2014**, *225*, 3339–3351. [CrossRef]
- 17. Muc, A.; Kędziora, P.; Stawiarski, A. Buckling enhancement of laminated composite structures partially covered by piezoelectric actuators. *Eur. J. Mech. A/Solids* **2019**, *73*, 112–125. [CrossRef]
- 18. Fung, Y.C. Some recent contributions to panel flutter research. AIAA J. 1963, 1, 898–909. [CrossRef]
- 19. Dowell, E.H. Panel flutter: A review of the aeroelastic stability of plates and shells. *AIAA J.* **1970**, *8*, 385–399. [CrossRef]
- 20. Pettit, C.L. Uncertainty quantification in aeroelasticity: Recent results and research challenges. *J. Aircr.* 2004, *41*, 1217–1229. [CrossRef]
- 21. Kouchakzadeh, M.A.; Rasekh, M.; Haddadpour, H. Panel flutter analysis of general laminated composite plates. *Compos. Struct.* **2010**, *92*, 2906–2915. [CrossRef]
- 22. Muc, A. Evolutionary design of engineering construction. Lat. Am. J. Solids Struct. 2018, 15. [CrossRef]
- 23. Kirsch, U. Optimal Topologies of Structures. Appl. Mech. Rev. 1989, 42, 223–239. [CrossRef]
- 24. Kirsch, U. Design Oriented Analysis of Structures; Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dor-drecht, The Netherlands, 2002.
- 25. Rozvany, G.I.N.; Bendsøe, M.P.; Kirsch, U. Layout optimization of structures. *Appl. Mech. Rev.* **1995**, *48*, 41–118. [CrossRef]
- 26. Bendsøe, M.P.; Kikuchi, N. Generating optimal topologies in structural design using a homogenization method. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng.* **1988**, *71*, 197–224. [CrossRef]
- 27. Bendsøe, M.P. Optimal Shape Design as a Material Distribution Problem. *Struct. Optim.* **1989**, *1*, 193–202. [CrossRef]
- 28. Bendsøe, M.P.; Sigmund, O. Topology Optimization. Theory, Methods and Applications; Springer: Berlin, Germany, 2004.

- 29. Song, Z.-G.; Li, F.-M. Erasmo Carrera; Peter Hagedorn. A new method of smart and optimal flutter control for composite laminated panels in supersonic airflow under thermal effects. *J. Sound Vib.* **2018**, 414, 218–232. [CrossRef]
- 30. Guo, S. Aeroelastic optimization of an aerobatic aircraft wing structure. *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *11*, 396–404. [CrossRef]
- 31. Li, J.; Nartia, Y. Multi-objective design for aeroelastic flutter of laminated shallow shells under variable flow angles. *Compos. Struct.* **2014**, *111*, 530–539. [CrossRef]
- 32. De Leon, D.M.; De Souza, C.E.; Foncesa, J.S.O.; Da Silva, R.G.A. Aeroelastic tailoring using fiber orientation and topology optimization. *Struct. Multidiscip. Optim.* **2012**, *46*, 663–677. [CrossRef]
- Katsikadelis, J.T.; Babouskos, N.G. Optimum Design of Thick Laminated Anisotropic Plates via Frequency Regulation. A BEM Approach. In *Advances in Mechanics of Materials and Structural Analysis*; Altenbach, F., Ed.; Advanced Structured Materials 80; Springer: Basel, Switzerland, 2018; pp. 223–239.
- 34. Kameyama, M.; Fukunaga, H. Optimum design of composite plate wings for aeroelastic characteristics using lamination parameters. *Comput. Struct.* **2007**, *85*, 213–224. [CrossRef]
- 35. Vijay, B.V.; Durvasula, S. Supersonic flutter of composite skin panels of repeated-sublaminate layup. *Compos. Struct.* **1998**, *41*, 121–135. [CrossRef]
- 36. Kuttenkeuler, J.; Ringertz, U. Aeroelastic tailoring considering uncertainties in material properties. *Struct. Optim.* **1998**, 15, 157–162. [CrossRef]
- 37. Muc, A. Optimization of multilayered composite structures with randomly distributed mechanical properties. *Mech. Compos. Mater.* **2005**, *41*, 505–510. [CrossRef]
- 38. Muc, A.; Kędziora, P. Application of Fuzzy Set Theory in Mechanics of Composite Materials. In *Soft Computing in Textile Sciences*; Sztandera, L., Pastore, C., Eds.; Springer: Berlin, Germany, 2001.
- 39. Murugan, S.; Ganguli, R.; Harursampath, D. Aeroelastic response of composite helicopter rotor with random material properties. *J. Aircr.* 2008, 45, 306–322. [CrossRef]
- 40. Murugan, S.; Chowdhury, R.; Adhikari, S.; Friswell, M.I. Helicopter aeroelastic analysis with spatially uncertain rotor blade properties. *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *16*, 29–39. [CrossRef]
- 41. Liaw, D.G. Supersonic flutter of laminated thin plates with thermal effects. J. Aircr. **1993**, 30, 105–111. [CrossRef]
- 42. Manan, A.; Cooper, J. Design of composite wings including uncertainties: A probabilistic approach. *J. Aircr.* **2009**, *46*, 601–607. [CrossRef]
- 43. Scarth, C.; Cooper, J.E.; Weaver, P.M.; Silva, G.H.C. Uncertainty quantification of aeroelastic stability of composite plate wings using lamination parameters. *Compos. Struct.* **2014**, *116*, 84–93. [CrossRef]
- Pettit, C.; Beran, P. Polynomial Chaos Expansion Applied to Airfoil Limit Cycle Oscillations. In Proceedings of the 45th AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC Structures, Structural Dynamics & Materials Conference Structures, Conferences American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Palm Springs, CA, USA, 19–22 April 2004.
- 45. Scarth, C.; Cooper, J.E. Reliability-based aeroelastic design of composite plate wings using a stability margin. *Struct. Multidiscip. Optim.* **2018**, *57*, 1695–1709. [CrossRef]
- 46. Nikbay, M.; Kuru, M.N. Reliability based multidisciplinary optimization of aeroelastic systems with structural and aerodynamic uncertainties. *J. Aircr.* **2013**, *50*, 708–715. [CrossRef]
- 47. Allen, M.; Maute, K. Reliability based design optimization of aeroelastic structures. *Struct. Multidiscip. Optim.* **2004**, 27, 228–242. [CrossRef]
- 48. Hosder, S.; Maddalena, L. Non-Intrusive Polynomial Chaos for the Stochastic CFD Study of a Supersonic Pressure Probe. In Proceedings of the 47th AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting including The New Horizons Forum and Aerospace Exposition, Orlando, FL, USA, 5–8 January 2009. Paper No. AIAA-2009-1129.
- 49. Lee, J.; Kang, H.Y.; Kwon, J.H.; Kwak, B.M. Reliability of aerodynamic analysis using a moment method. *Int. J. Comput. Fluid Dyn.* **2009**, 23, 495–502. [CrossRef]
- 50. Chassaing, J.C.; Lucor, D. Stochastic investigation of flows about airfoils at transonic speeds. *AIAA J.* **2010**, *48*, 938–950. [CrossRef]
- 51. Missoum, S.; Dribusch, C.; Beran, P. Reliability Based design optimization of nonlinear aeroelasticity problems. *J. Aircr.* **2010**, *47*, 992–998. [CrossRef]
- 52. Nikbay, M.; Oncu, L.; Aysan, A. Multidisciplinary code coupling for analysis and optimization of aeroelastic systems. *J. Aircr.* **2009**, *46*, 1938–1944. [CrossRef]

- Nikbay, M.; Yanangonul, A.; Oncu, L.; Kocas, M. Multi-Objective and Gradient Based Structural Design Optimization of an Aircraft Wing. In Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Multidisciplinary Design Optimization and Applications (ASMDO), Gijon, Spain, 2–5 September 2008.
- Muc, A.; Ulatowska, A. Local fibre reinforcement of holes in composite multilayered plater. *Compos. Struct.* 2012, 94, 1413–1419. [CrossRef]
- 55. Muc, A.; Ulatowska, A. Design of plates with curved fibre format. *Compos. Struct.* **2010**, *92*, 1728–1733. [CrossRef]
- Muc, A. Optimization of Composite Topology for Doubly-Curved Laminated Shells Under Buckling Constraints. In *Optimal Design with Advanced Materials*; Pedersen, P., Ed.; Elsevier Science: Lyngby, Denmark, 1993.
- 57. Muc, A. Natural frequencies of rectangular laminated plates—Introduction to optimal design in aeroelastic problems. *Aerospace* **2018**, *5*, 95. [CrossRef]
- 58. Muc, A. Choice of design variables in the stacking sequence optimization for laminated structures. *Mech. Compos. Mater.* **2016**, *52*, 211–224. [CrossRef]
- Hirano, Y.; Todoroki, A. Stacking sequence optimizations for composite laminates using fractal branch and bound method: Application for supersonic panel flutter problem with buckling load condition. *Adv. Compos. Mater.* 2004, *13*, 89–106. [CrossRef]
- 60. Hirano, Y.; Todoroki, A. Stacking-sequence optimization of composite delta wing to improve flutter limit using fractal branch and bound method. *JSME Int. J.* **2005**, *48*, 65–72. [CrossRef]
- 61. Guo, S.; Cheng, W.; Cui, D. Aeroelastic tailoring of composite wing structures by laminate layup optimization. *AIAA J.* **2006**, *44*, 3146–3150. [CrossRef]
- 62. Rajendran, I.; Vijayarangan, S. Simulated annealing approach to the optimal design of automotive suspension systems. *Int. J. Veh. Des.* **2007**, *43*, 11–30. [CrossRef]
- 63. Jong-Sun, K.; Changho, N. H∞ control for flutter suppression of a laminated plate with self-sensing actuators. *KSME J.* **1996**, *10*, 169–179.
- 64. Friedmann, P.; Hanin, M. Supersonic nonlinear flutter of orthotropic or isotropic panels with arbitrary flow direction. *Israel J. Technol.* **1968**, *6*, 46–57.
- 65. Calligeros, J.M.; Dugundji, J. Effects of orthotropicity orientation on supersonic panel flutter. *AIAA J.* **1963**, *1*, 2180–2182. [CrossRef]
- 66. Rossettos, J.N.; Tong, P. Finite element analysis of vibration and flutter of cantilever anisotropic plates. *J. Appl. Mech.* **1974**, *41*, 1075–1080. [CrossRef]
- 67. Ramkumar, R.L.; Weisshaar, T.A. Flutter of flat rectangular anisotropic plates in high Mach number supersonic flow. *J. Sound Vib.* **1977**, *50*, 587–597. [CrossRef]
- 68. Rao, J.S. Advances in Aero Structures. Procedia Eng. 2016, 144, 3-25. [CrossRef]
- 69. Hertz, T.J.; Shirk, M.H.; Ricketts, R.H.; Weisshaar, T.A. Aeroelastic Tailoring with Composites Applied to Forward Swept Wings. In Proceedings of the 5th DOD/NASA Conference on Fibrous Composites in Structural Design, New Orleans, LA, USA, 27–29 January 1981.
- 70. McIntosh, S.C.J.; Ashley, H. On the optimization of discrete structures with aeroelastic constraints. *Comput. Struct.* **1978**, *8*, 411–419. [CrossRef]
- 71. Tripplet, W.E. Aeroelastic tailoring studies in fighter aircraft design. J. Aircr. 1980, 17, 508–513. [CrossRef]
- Abdalla, M.M.; Breuker, R.D.; Gürdal, Z. Aeroelastic Tailoring of Variable-Stiffness Slender Wings for Minimum Compliance. In Proceedings of the International Forum on Aeroelasticity and Structural Dynamics, Stockholm, Sweden, 18–20 June 2007.
- 73. Gao, P.; Zhang, Z. Design variables and constraint derivatives in aeroelastic tailoring. *Acta Aeronaut. Astronaut. Sin.* **1991**, 12, 647–650.
- 74. Patil, M.J. Aeroelastic Tailoring of Composite Box Beams. In Proceedings of the 35th Aerospace Sciences Meeting and Exhibit, Reno, NV, USA, 6–9 January 1997.
- 75. Attaran, A.; Majid, D.L.; Basri, S.; Mohd Rafie, A.S.; Abdullah, E.J. Structural optimization of an aeroelastically tailored composite flat plate made of woven fiberglass/epoxy. *Acta Mech.* **2008**, *196*, 161–173. [CrossRef]
- 76. Kuttenkeuler, J.; Ringertz, U. Aeroelastic design and optimization with experimental verification. *J. Aircr.* **1998**, *35*, 505–507. [CrossRef]
- 77. Guo, S.; Banerjee, J.R.; Cheung, C.W. The effect of laminate lay-up on the flutter speed of composite wings. *Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part G J. Aerosp. Eng.* **2003**, *217*, 115–122. [CrossRef]

- 78. Guo, S.; Chen, W.; Cui, D. Optimization of Composite Wing Structures for Maximum Flutter Speed. In Proceedings of the 1st AIAA Multidisciplinary Design Optimization Specialist Conference, the 46th AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC Structures, Structural Dynamics, and Materials Conference, Austin, TX, USA, 18–21 April 2005; Paper No. AIAA-2005-2132.
- Guo, S.; Cheung, C.W.; Banerjee, J.R.; Butler, R. Gust Alleviation and Flutter Suppression of an Optimized Composite Wing. In Proceedings of the International Forum on Aeroelasticity and Structural Dynamics, Manchester, UK, 26–28 June 1995.
- Lillico, M.; Butler, R.; Banerjee, J.R.; Guo, S. Optimum Design of High Aspect Ratio Wings Subject to Aeroelastic Constraints. In Proceedings of the 36th AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference, New Orleans, LA, USA, 10–13 April 1995.
- Werter, N.P.M.; Breuker, R.D. Aeroelastic Tailoring and Structural Optimization Using an Advanced Dynamic Aeroelasic Framework. In Proceedings of the International Forum on Aeroelasticity and Structural Dynamics, Saint Petersburg, Russia, 28 June–2 July 2015.
- 82. Liu, X.N.; Xiang, J.W. Study of aeroelastic tailoring of high aspectratio flexible composite wing. *Acta Aeronaut. Astronaut. Sin.* **2006**, *32*, 1403–1407.
- 83. Isogai, K. Direct search method to aeroelastic tailoring of a composite wing under multiple constraints. *J. Aircr.* **1989**, *26*, 1076–1080. [CrossRef]
- 84. Bach, C.; Jebari, R.; Viti, A.; Hewson, R. Composite stacking sequence optimization for aeroelastically tailored forward-swept wings. *Struct. Multidiscip. Optim.* **2017**, *55*, 105–119. [CrossRef]
- 85. Berci, M.; Gaskell, P.; Hewson, R.; Toropov, V. Multifidelity metamodel building as a route to aeroplastic optimization of flexible wings. *Mech. Eng. Part C J. Mech. Eng. Sci.* **2011**, 2115–2137. [CrossRef]
- 86. Berci, M.; Gaskell, P.; Hewson, R.; Toropov, V. A semi-analytical model for the combined aeroelastic behaviour and gust response of a flexible aerofoil. *J. Fluids Struct.* **2013**, *38*, 3–21. [CrossRef]
- 87. Berci, M.; Gaskell, P.; Hewson, R.; Toropov, V. Multidisciplinary multifidelity optimization of a flexible wing aerofoil with reference to a small UAV. *Struct. Multidiscip.* **2014**, *50*, 683–699. [CrossRef]
- Jebari, R. Composite Stacking Sequence Optimization and Aeroelastic Tailoring of a Forward-Swept Wing. Master's Thesis, Imperial College London, London, UK, 2015.
- Muc, A.; Trzebicki, M. New Trends in Optimal Design of Composite Materials. In Proceedings of the XXI International Congress of Theoretical and Applied Mechanics (ICTAM), Warsaw, Poland, 15–21 August 2005; Springer: Warsaw, Poland.
- 90. Muc, A.; Gurba, W. Genetic algorithms and finite element analysis in optimization of composite structures. *Compos. Struct.* **2001**, *54*, 275–281. [CrossRef]
- 91. Shih-Yao, K. Flutter of rectangular composite plates with variable fiber pacing. *Compos. Struct.* **2011**, *93*, 2533–2540.
- 92. Stodieck, O.; Cooper, J.E.; Weaver, P.M.; Kealy, P. Improved aeroelastic tailoring using tow-steered composites. *Compos. Struct.* **2013**, *106*, 703–715. [CrossRef]
- 93. Stodieck, O.; Cooper, J.E.; Weaver, P.M. Optimization of tow-steered composite wing laminates for aeroelastic tailoring. *AIAA J.* **2015**, *53*, 2203–2215. [CrossRef]
- 94. Stodieck, O.; Cooper, J.E.; Weaver, P.M. Aeroelastic tailoring of a representative wing box using tow-steered composites. *AIAA J.* **2017**, *55*, 1425–1439. [CrossRef]
- 95. Haddadpour, H.; Zamani, Z. Curvilinear fiber optimization to ols for aeroelastic design of composite wings. *J. Fluid Struct.* **2012**, *33*, 180–190. [CrossRef]
- Stanford, B.; Jutte, C.V.; Wu, K.C. Aeroelastic benefits of tow steering for composite plates. *Compos. Struct.* 2014, 118, 416–422. [CrossRef]
- 97. Guimarães, T.A.M.; Castro, S.G.P.; Cesnik, C.E.S.; Rade, D.A. Supersonic flutter and buckling optimization of towed-steered composite plates. *AIAA J.* **2019**, *57*, 397–407. [CrossRef]
- 98. Akhavan, H.; Ribeiro, P. Aeroelasticity of composite plates with curvilinear fibres in supersonic flow. *Compos. Struct.* **2018**, *194*, 335–344. [CrossRef]
- 99. Khalafi, V.; Fazilati, J. Supersonic panel flutter of variable stiffness composite laminated skew panels subjected to yawed flow by using NURBS-based isogeometric approach. *J. Fluid Struct.* **2018**, *82*, 198–214. [CrossRef]
- Ouyang, X.S.; Liu, Y. Supersonic flutter of tow-steered composite laminates. *Acta Aeronaut. Astronaut. Sin.* 2018, 39, 221539. (In Chinese)

- Sohn, K.J.; Kim, J.H. Nonlinear thermal flutter of functionally graded panels under a supersonic flow. *Compos. Struct.* 2009, *88*, 380–387. [CrossRef]
- Lee, S.L.; Kim, J.H. Thermal post-buckling and the stability boundaries of structurally damped functionally graded panels in supersonic airflows. *Compos. Struct.* 2010, 92, 422–429. [CrossRef]
- 103. Prakash, T.; Ganapathi, M. Supersonic flutter characteristics of functionally graded flat panels including thermal effects. *Compos. Struct.* **2006**, *72*, 10–18. [CrossRef]
- 104. Prakash, T.; Ganapathi, M. Asymmetric flexural vibration and thermoelastic stability of FGM circular plates using finite element method. *Compos. Part B Eng.* **2006**, *37*, 642–649. [CrossRef]
- Ibrahim, H.H.; Tawfik, M.; Al-Ajmi, M. Thermal buckling and nonlinear flutter behavior of functionally graded material panels. J. Aircr. 2007, 44, 1610–1618. [CrossRef]
- Ibrahim, H.H.; Tawfik, M.; Al-Ajmi, M. Non-linear panel flutter for temperature dependent functionally graded material panels. *Comput. Mech.* 2008, 41, 325–334. [CrossRef]
- Navazi, H.M.; Haddadpour, H. Aero-thermoelastic stability of functionally graded plates. *Compos. Struct.* 2007, *80*, 580–587. [CrossRef]
- Haddadpour, H.; Navazi, H.M.; Shadmehri, F. Nonlinear oscillations of a fluttering functionally graded plate. *Compos. Struct.* 2007, 79, 242–250. [CrossRef]
- 109. Peng, J.; Xiaoping, Z. Flutter characteristic study of composite sandwich panel with functionally graded foam core. *Int. J. Aerosp. Eng.* **2016**, 2016, 7971435.
- 110. Dunning, P.D.; Stanford, B.K.; Kim, H.A.; Jutte, C.V. Aeroelastic tailoring of a plate wing with functionally graded materials. *J. Fluids Struct.* **2014**, *51*, 292–312. [CrossRef]
- 111. Liang, L.; Lia, W.-H.; Zhang, D.; Zhang, Y. Vibration control and analysis of a rotating flexible FGM beam with a lumped mass in temperature field. *Compos. Struct.* **2019**, *208*, 244–260.
- 112. Ghorbanpour, A.; Soleymani, T. Size-dependent vibration analysis of an axially moving sandwich beam with MR core and axially FGM faces layers in yawed supersonic airflow. *Eur. J. Mech. A/Solids* 2019, 77, 103792. [CrossRef]
- 113. Tornabene, F. On the critical speed evaluation of arbitrarily oriented rotating doubly-curved shells made of functionally graded materials. *Thin-Walled Struct.* **2019**, *140*, 85–98. [CrossRef]
- 114. Su, Z.; Wang, L.; Sun, K.; Wang, D. Vibration characteristic and flutter analysis of elastically restrained stiffened functionally graded plates in thermal environment. *Int. J. Mech. Sci.* 2019, 157–158, 872–884. [CrossRef]
- Yang, S.W.; Zhang, W.; Hao, Y.X.; Niu, Y. Nonlinear vibrations of FGM truncated conical shell under aerodynamics and in-plane force along meridian near internal resonances. *Thin-Walled Struct.* 2019, 142, 369–391. [CrossRef]
- Sobhy, M.; Zenkour, A.M. Porosity and inhomogeneity effects on the buckling and vibration of double-FGM nanoplates via a quasi-3D refined theory. *Compos. Struct.* 2019, 220, 289–303. [CrossRef]
- 117. Trinh, M.-C.; Nguyen, D.-D.; Kim, S.-E. Effects of porosity and thermomechanical loading on free vibration and nonlinear dynamic response of functionally graded sandwich shells with double curvature. *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.* 2019, 87, 119–132. [CrossRef]
- 118. Bahaadini, R.; Saidi, A.R. Aerothermoelastic flutter analysis of pre-twisted thin-walled rotating blades reinforced with functionally graded carbon nanotubes. *Eur. J. Mech. A/Solids* **2019**, *75*, 285–306. [CrossRef]
- 119. Song, Z.; Chen, Y.; Li, Z.; Sha, J.; Li, F. Axially functionally graded beams and panels in supersonic airflow and their excellent capability for passive flutter suppression. *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.* **2019**, *92*, 668–675. [CrossRef]
- 120. Liu, H.; Lv, Z.; Tang, H. Nonlinear vibration and instability of functionally graded nanopipes with initial imperfection conveying fluid. *Appl. Math. Model.* **2019**, *76*, 133–150. [CrossRef]
- 121. Zhu, Y.; Shi, P.; Kang, Y.; Cheng, B. Isogeometric analysis of functionally graded plates with a logarithmic higher order shear deformation theory. *Thin-Walled Struct.* **2019**, *144*, 106234. [CrossRef]
- Moita, J.S.; Correia, V.F.; Mota Soares, C.M.; Herskovits, J. Higher-order finite element models for the static linear and nonlinear behavior of functionally graded material plate-shell structures. *Compos. Struct.* 2019, 212, 465–475. [CrossRef]
- 123. Tang, Y.; Yang, T. Post-buckling behavior and nonlinear vibration analysis of a fluid-conveying pipe composed of functionally graded material. *Compos. Struct.* **2018**, *185*, 393–400. [CrossRef]

- 124. Zhou, K.; Huang, X.; Tian, J.; Hua, H. Vibration and flutter analysis of supersonic porous functionally graded material plates with temperature gradient and resting on elastic foundation. *Compos. Struct.* 2018, 204, 63–79. [CrossRef]
- 125. Al-shujairi, M.; Mollamahmutoğlu, Ç. Dynamic stability of sandwich functionally graded micro-beam based on the nonlocal strain gradient theory with thermal effect. *Compos. Struct.* **2018**, 201, 1018–1030. [CrossRef]
- 126. Chwał, M.; Muc, A. Buckling and free vibrations of nanoplates-comparison of nonlocal strain and stress approaches. *Appl. Sci.* **2019**, *9*, 1409. [CrossRef]
- 127. Muc, A. Modelling of carbon nanotubes behavior with the use of a thin shell theory. *J. Theor. Appl. Mech.* **2011**, *49*, 531–540.
- 128. Matin, M.R.; Mirdamadi, H.R.; Ghayour, M. Effects of nonlocal elasticity and slip condition on vibration of nano-plate coupled with fluid flow. *Phys. E Low-Dimens. Syst. Nanostruct.* **2013**, *48*, 85–95. [CrossRef]
- 129. Oveissi, S.; Toghraie, D.; Eftekhari, S.A. Longitudinal vibration and stability analysis of carbon nanotubes conveying viscous fluid. *Phys. E Low-Dimens. Syst. Nanostruct.* **2016**, *83*, 275–283. [CrossRef]
- 130. Eltaher, M.A.; Khater, M.E.; Emam, S.A. A review on nonlocal elastic models for bending, buckling, vibrations and wave propagation of nanoscale beams. *Appl. Math. Model.* **2016**, *40*, 4109–4128. [CrossRef]
- 131. Asadi, H.; Souri, M.; Wang, Q. A numerical study on flow-induced instabilities of supersonic FG-CNT reinforced composite flat panels in thermal environments. *Compos. Struct.* **2017**, *171*, 113–125. [CrossRef]
- 132. Asadi, H.; Wang, Q. An investigation on the aeroelastic flutter characteristics of FG-CNTRC beams in the supersonic flow. *Compos. Part B* 2017, 116, 486–499. [CrossRef]
- 133. Asadi, H. Numerical simulation of the fluid-solid interaction for CNT reinforced functionally graded cylindrical shells in thermal environments. *Acta Astronaut.* **2018**, *138*, 214–224. [CrossRef]
- Mehri, M.; Asadi, H.; Wang, Q. On dynamic instability of a pressurized functionally graded carbon nanotube reinforced truncated conical shell subjected to yawed supersonic airflow. *Compos. Struct.* 2016, 153, 938–951. [CrossRef]
- 135. Asadi, H.; Wang, Q. Dynamic stability analysis of a pressurized FG-CNTRC cylindrical shell interacting with supersonic airflow. *Compos. Part B* 2017, *116*, 15–25. [CrossRef]
- Mehri, M.; Asadi, H.; Kouchakzadeh, M.A. Computationally efficient model for flow-induced instability of CNT reinforced functionally graded truncated conical curved panels subjected to axial compression. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Energy* 2017, 318, 957–980. [CrossRef]
- 137. Samadpour, M.; Asadi, H.; Wang, Q. Nonlinear aero-thermal flutter postponement of supersonic laminated composite beams with shape memory alloys. *Eur. J. Mech. A/Solid* **2016**, *57*, 18–28. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, L.W.; Song, Z.G.; Liew, K.M. Modeling aerothermoelastic properties and active flutter control of nanocomposite cylindrical shells in supersonic airflow under thermal environments. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng.* 2017, 325, 416–433. [CrossRef]
- 139. Song, Z.G.; Zhang, L.W.; Liew, K.M. Active vibration control of CNT reinforced functionally graded plates based on a higher-order shear deformation theory. *Int. J. Mech. Sci.* **2015**, *105*, 90–101. [CrossRef]
- 140. Song, Z.G.; Zhang, L.W.; Liew, K.M. Optimal shape control of CNT reinforced functionally graded composite plates using piezoelectric patches. *Compos. Part B* **2016**, *85*, 140–149.
- 141. Song, Z.G.; Zhang, L.W.; Liew, K.M. Computation of aerothermoelastic properties and active flutter control of CNT reinforced functionally graded composite panels in supersonic airflow. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng.* 2016, 300, 427–441.
- Song, Z.G.; Zhang, L.W.; Liew, K.M. Aeroelastic analysis of CNT reinforced functionally graded composite panels in supersonic airflow using a higher-order shear deformation theory. *Compos. Struct.* 2016, 141, 79–90. [CrossRef]
- 143. Bahaadini, R.; Hosseini, M.; Jamali, B. Flutter and divergence instability of supported piezoelectric nanotubes conveying fluid. *Phys. B Condens. Matter* **2018**, 529, 57–65. [CrossRef]
- 144. Sadeghi-Goughari, M.; Jeon, S.; Kwon, H.-J. Flutter instability of cantilevered carbon nanotubes caused by magnetic fluid flow subjected to a longitudinal magnetic field. *Phys. E Low-Dimens. Syst. Nanostruct.* 2018, 98, 184–190. [CrossRef]
- 145. Xiao, Q.-X.; Li, X.-F. Flutter and divergence instability of rectangular plates under nonconservative forces considering surface elasticity. *Int. J. Mech. Sci.* 2018, 149, 254–261. [CrossRef]
- Bahaadini, R.; Hosseini, M.; Jamalpoor, A. Nonlocal and surface effects on the flutter instability of cantilevered nanotubes conveying fluid subjected to follower forces. *Phys. B Condens. Matter* 2017, 509, 55–61. [CrossRef]

- 147. Liu, J.J.; Li, C.; Fan, X.L.; Tong, L.H. Transverse free vibration and stability of axially moving nanoplates based on nonlocal elasticity theory. *Appl. Math. Model.* **2017**, *45*, 65–84. [CrossRef]
- Muc, A.; Kędziora, P. Optimal design of smart laminated composite structures. *Mater. Manuf. Process.* 2010, 25, 272–280. [CrossRef]
- 149. Muc, A.; Kędziora, P. Optimal shapes of PZT actuators for laminated structures subjected to displacement or eigenfrequency constraints. *Compos. Struct.* **2012**, *94*, 1224–1235.
- 150. Ehlers, S.M.; Weisshaar, T.A. Effects of Adaptive Material Properties on Static Aeroelastic Control. In Proceedings of the 33th Structures, Structural Dynamics and Material Conference, Dallas, TX, USA, 13–15 April 1992; pp. 914–924; Paper No. AIAA-92-2526.
- 151. Sulernan, A.; Venkayya, V.B. Flutter Control of an Adaptive Composite Panel. In Proceedings of the AIAA/ASME Adaptive Structures Forum, Hilton Head, SC, USA, 21–22 April 1994; pp. 118–126; Paper No. AIAA-94-1744.
- 152. Lin, C.V.; Crawley, E.F. Towards Optimal Aeroelastic Control Using Elastic and Induced Strain Anisotropy. In Proceedings of the 35th Structures, Structural Dynamics and Material Conference, Hilton Head, SC, USA, 18–20 April 1994; pp. 1781–1792; Paper No. AIAA-94-1547.
- 153. Nam, C.; Kim, Y.; Weisshaar, T.A. Optimal sizing and placement of piezo actuators for active flutter suppression. *Proc. Smart Struct. Mater.* **1996**, *5*, 216–224. [CrossRef]
- 154. Nam, C.; Kim, Y. Optimal design of adaptive composite lifting surface for flutter suppression. *AIAA J.* **1995**, 33, 1897–1904. [CrossRef]
- 155. Chattopadhyay, A.; Seeley, C.E.; Jha, R. Aeroelastic tailoring using piezoelectric actuation and hybrid optimization. *Smart Mater. Struct.* **1999**, *8*, 83–91. [CrossRef]
- 156. Moon, S.H.; Yun, C.Y.; Kim, S.J. Passive Suppression of nonlinear panel flutter using piezoelectric materials with resonant circuit. *KSME Int. J.* **2002**, *16*, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- 157. Horikawa, H.; Dowell, E.H. An elementary explanation of the flutter mechanism with active feedback controls. J. Aircr. 1979, 16, 225–232. [CrossRef]
- 158. Hwang, C.; Johnson, E.H.; Pi, W.S. Recent development of the YF-17 active flutter suppression system. *J. Aircr.* **1981**, *18*, 537–545. [CrossRef]
- 159. Peloubet, P.R., Jr.; Haller, R.L.; Bolding, R.M. F-16 flutter suppression system investigation feasibility study and wind tunnel tests. *J. Aircr.* **1982**, *19*, 169–175. [CrossRef]
- 160. Nissim, E. Flutter Suppression Using Active Controls Based on the Concept of Aerodynamic Energy; Technical Note TN D-6199; NASA: Washington, DC, USA, 1971.
- Freymann, R. New simplified ways to understand the interaction between aircraft structure and active control systems. In Proceedings of the 17th Fluid Dynamics, Plasma Dynamics, and Lasers Conference, Snowmass, CO, USA, 25–27 June 1984.
- Lyons, M.G.; Vepa, R.; McIntosh, S.C.; Debra, D.B. Control Law Synthesis and Sensor Design for Active Flutter Suppression. Proceedings on the Guidance and Control Conference, Key Biscayne, FL, USA, 20–22 August 1973.
- Edwards, J.W. Unsteady Aerodynamic Modelling and Active Aeroelastic Control; CR-148019; NASA: Washington, DC, USA, 1977.
- 164. Newsom, J.R. Active Flutter Suppression Synthetic Using Optimal Control Theory. Master's Thesis, The George Washington University, Washington, DC, USA, 1978.
- 165. Newsom, J.R. A Method for Obtaining Practical Flutter-Suppression Control Laws Using Results of Optimal Control Theory; Technical Paper TP 1471; NASA: Washington, DC, USA, 1979.
- Mukhopadhyay, V.; Newsom, J.R.; Abel, I. Reduced-order optimal feedback control law synthesis for flutter suppression. J. Guidance Control Dyn. 1982, 5, 389–395. [CrossRef]
- 167. Barker, J.M.; Balas, G.J.; Blue, P.A. Gain-scheduled linear fractional control for active flutter suppression. *J. Guidance Control Dyn.* **1999**, *22*, 507–512. [CrossRef]
- Friedmann, P.P.; Presente, E. Active control of flutter in compressible flow and its aeroelastic scaling. J. Guidance Control Dyn. 2001, 24, 167–175. [CrossRef]
- Newsom, J.R. Designing Active Control Laws in a Computational Aeroelasticity Environment. Ph.D. Thesis, The Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Portland, OR, USA, 2002.
- 170. Heeg, J. Analytical and Experimental Investigation of Flutter Suppression by Piezoelectric Actuation; Technical Paper TP 3241; NASA: Washington, DC, USA, 1993.

- Döngi, F.; Dinkler, D.; Kröplin, B. Active panel flutter suppression using self-sensing piezo actuators. *AIAA J.* 1996, 34, 1224–1230. [CrossRef]
- 172. Raja, S. Influence of one and two dimensional piezoelectric actuation on active vibration control of smart panels. *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.* **2002**, *6*, 209–216. [CrossRef]
- 173. Sreedeep, R.; Raja, S.; Pashilkar, A.A. Active Flutter Suppression of Composite Wing Model Using Piezo-Electric Actuators. In Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Theoretical, Applied, Computational and Experimental Mechanics, IIT, Kharagpur, India, 28–30 December 2004.
- 174. Cunha, A.G.; de Lima, A.M.G.; Donadon, M.V.; Leao, L.S. Flutter suppression of plates using passive constrained viscoelastic layers. *Mech. Syst. Signal Process.* **2016**, *79*, 99–111. [CrossRef]
- Cunha, A.G.; de Lima, A.M.G.; Donadon, M.V.; Leao, L.S. Flutter suppression of plates subjected to supersonic flow using passive constrained viscoelastic layers and Golla-Hughes-McTavish method. *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.* 2016, 52, 70–80. [CrossRef]
- 176. Raja, S.; Pashilkar, A.A.; Sreedeep, R.; Kamesh, J.V. Flutter control of a composite plate with piezoelectric multilayered actuators. *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *10*, 435–441. [CrossRef]
- Chai, Y.; Li, F.; Song, Z. Nonlinear vibrations, bifurcations and chaos of lattice sandwich composite panels on Winkler–Pasternak elastic foundations with thermal effects in supersonic airflow. *Meccanica* 2019, 54, 919–944. [CrossRef]
- 178. Stanford, B.; Beran, P.; Bhatia, M. Aeroelastic topology optimization of blade-stiffened panels. J. Aircr. 2012, 51, 938–944. [CrossRef]
- 179. Wang, X.; Li, L.; Zhou, Y. Aeroelastic dynamics stability of rotating sandwich annular plate with viscoelastic core layer. *Appl. Math. Mech.* **2016**, *37*, 107–120. [CrossRef]
- 180. Chen, Y.R.; Chen, L.W.; Wang, C.C. Axisymmetric dynamic instability of rotating polar orthotropic sandwich annular plates with a constrained damping layer. *Compos. Struct.* **2006**, *73*, 290–302. [CrossRef]
- Chen, Y.R.; Chen, L.W. Vibration and stability of rotating polar orthotropic sandwich annular plates with a viscoelastic core layer. *Compos. Struct.* 2007, 78, 45–57. [CrossRef]
- 182. Li, L.F.; Wang, X.Z.; Zhou, Y.H. Dynamic characteristics of traveling waves for a rotating laminated circular plate with viscoelastic core layer. *J. Sound Vib.* **2011**, *330*, 2836–2847. [CrossRef]
- 183. Shiau, T.N.; Yu, Y.D.; Kuo, C.O. Vibration and optimum design of rotating laminated blades. *Compos. Part B Eng.* **1996**, *27*, 173–183. [CrossRef]
- 184. Lam, K.Y.; Li, H. On free vibration of a rotating truncated circular orthotropic conical shell. *Compos. Part B Eng.* **1999**, *30*, 135–144. [CrossRef]
- 185. Li, H. Influence of boundary conditions on the free vibration of rotating truncated circular multilayered conical shells. *Compos. Part B Eng.* **2000**, *31*, 265–275.
- Liew, K.M.; Hu, Y.G.; Ng, T.Y.; Zhao, X. Dynamic stability of rotating cylindrical shells subjected to periodic axial loads. *Int. J. Solids Struct.* 2006, 43, 7553–7570. [CrossRef]
- 187. Ringertz, U.T. On structural optimization with aeroelasticity constraints. *Struct. Optim.* **1994**, *8*, 16–23. [CrossRef]
- 188. Haftka, R.T. Automated Procedure for Design of Wing Structures to Satisfy Strength and Flutter Requirements; Technical Note TND 7-64; NASA: Washington, DC, USA, 1973.
- 189. Haftka, R.T.; Yates, E.C. Repetitive flutter calculations in structural design. *J. Aircr.* **1976**, *13*, 454–461. [CrossRef]
- 190. Housner, J.M.; Stein, M. Flutter Analysis of Swept-Wing Subsonic Aircraft with Parameter Studies of Composite Wings; Technical Note TND 7539; NASA: Washington, DC, USA, 1974.
- Nezami, M.; Gholami, B. Optimal locations of magnetorheological fluid pockets embedded in an elastically supported honeycomb sandwich beams for supersonic flutter suppression. *Eur. J. Mech. A/Solids* 2019, 74, 81–95. [CrossRef]
- Sankar, A.; Natarajan, S.; Zineb, T.B.; Ganapathi, M. Investigation of supersonic flutter of thick doubly curved sandwich panels with CNT reinforced facesheets using higher-order structural theory. *Compos. Struct.* 2015, 127, 340–355. [CrossRef]
- 193. Sankar, A.; Natarajan, S.; Haboussi, M.; Ramajeyathilagam, K.; Ganapathi, M. Panel flutter characteristics of sandwich plates with CNT reinforced facesheets using an accurate higher-order theory. *J. Fluids Struct.* 2014, 50, 376–391. [CrossRef]

- Muc, A. Optimization of Composite Thinwalled Structures-Pitfalls for Researches. In Proceedings of the First World Congress of Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization, Goslar, Germany, 28 May–2 June 1995.
- 195. Chwał, M.; Muc, A. Design of reinforcement in nano- and microcomposites. *Materials* **2019**, *12*, 1474. [CrossRef]
- 196. Skinner, S.N.; Zare-Behtash, H. State-of-the-art in aerodynamic shape optimization methods. *Appl. Soft Comput.* **2018**, *62*, 933–962. [CrossRef]
- 197. Yang, C.; Yang, Y.X.; Wu, Z.G. Shape sensitivity analysis of flutter characteristics of a low aspect ratio supersonic wing using analytical method. *Sci. China Technol. Sci.* **2012**, *55*, 3370–3377. [CrossRef]
- 198. Lv, B.; Tan, S.G.; Yang, C. Optimization design for aeroelastic dynamics of T-tail. *J. Beijing Univ. Aeronaut. Astronaut.* **2007**, *33*, 409–413.
- 199. Wu, Q.; Wan, Z.Q.; Yang, C. Design optimization of flutter scaled model considering structural dynamic and flutter constraints. *Acta Aeronaut. Astronaut. Sin.* **2011**, *32*, 1210–1216.
- 200. Yang, C.; Xiao, Z.P. Aeroelastic optimization design for wing with maneuvor load uncertainties. *Sci. China Technol. Sci.* 2010, 53, 3102–3109. [CrossRef]
- Gao, P.; Guan, D. Integrated design of flexible structure/flutter active control law. *Acta Aeronaut. Astronaut. Sin.* 1995, 16, 521–527.
- 202. Barboni, R.; Mannini, A.; Gaudenzi, P. On the use of the P-TFE method for panel flutter optimization. *Comput. Struct.* **1999**, *70*, 109–117. [CrossRef]
- 203. Butler, R.; Banerjee, J.R. Optimum design of bending-torsion coupled beams with frequency or aeroelastic constraints. *Comput. Struct.* **1996**, *60*, 715–724. [CrossRef]
- 204. Furuya, H.; Fukuchi, I. Evolutionary Structural Optimization of Plate Wing for Supersonic Flutter. In Proceedings of the 42nd AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC Structures, Structural Dynamics and Material Conference, Seattle, WA, USA, 16–19 April 2001.
- 205. Furuya, H.; Fukuchi, I.; Kogiso, N. Evolutionary Optimization for Simultaneous Design on Supersonic Flutter and Structural Mass. In Proceedings of the 9th AIAA/ISSMO Symposium on Multidisciplinary Analysis and Optimization, Atlanta, GA, USA, 4–6 September 2002.
- 206. Kameyama, M.; Ozeki, T.; Fukunaga, H.; Sekine, H.; Nakamichi, J. Optimum Design Composite Plate Wing for Aeroelastic Characteristics Using Lamination Parameters. In Proceedings of the 2nd China–Japan–Korea Joint Symposium on Optimization of Structural and Mechanical Systems (CJK-OSM 2), Busan, Korea, 4–8 November 2002.
- 207. Lillico, M.; Butler, R.; Guo, S.; Banerjee, J.R. Aeroelastic optimization of composite wings using the dynamic stiffness method. *Aeronaut. J.* **1997**, *101*, 77–85.
- 208. Stroud, W.J.; Krishnamurthy, T.; Mason, B.H.; Smith, S.A.; Naster, A.S. Probabilistic Design of a Plate-Like Wing to Meet Flutter and Strength Requirement. In Proceedings of the 43rd AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC Structures, Structural Dynamics, and Materials Conference, Denver, CO, USA, 22–25 April 2002.
- 209. Kim, T.; Lim, J.; Shin, S.; Kim, D.-H. Structural design optimization of a tiltrotor aircraft composite wing to enhance whirl flutter stability. *Compos. Struct.* **2013**, *95*, 283–294. [CrossRef]
- 210. Acree, C.W.; Peyran, R.J.; Johnson, W. *Rotor Design Options for Improving XV-15 Whirl-Flutter Stability Margins*; Technical Paper TP-212262; NASA: Washington, DC, USA, 2004.
- 211. Acree, C.W., Jr.; Peyran, R.J., Jr.; Johnson, W. Rotor Design for Whirl Flutter: An Examination of Options for Improving Tiltrotor Aeroelastic Stability Margins. In Proceedings of the American Helicopter Society 55th International Annual Forum, Alexandria, VA, USA, 25–27 May 1999.
- 212. Acree, C.W. Effects of Rotor Design Variations on Tiltrotor Whirl Mode Stability. In Proceedings of the Tiltrotor/Runway Independent Aircraft Technology and Applications Specialists Meeting, Arlington, TX, USA, 20–21 March 2001.
- 213. Acree, C.W., Jr. Rotor Design Options for Improving V-22 Whirl Mode Stability. In Proceedings of the American Helicopter Society 58th International Annual Forum, Montréal, QC, Canada, 11–13 June 2002.
- 214. Nixon, M. Aeroelastic Response and Stability of Tiltrotors with Elastically Coupled Composite Rotor Blades. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maryland, College Park, MD, USA, 1993.
- 215. Paik, J.; Gandhi, F. Design optimization for improved soft in-plane tiltrotor aeroelastic stability in airplane mode. *J. Aircr.* **2010**, *47*, 1089–1099. [CrossRef]
- 216. Mueller, J.P.; Gourinat, Y.; Ferrer, R.; Krysinski, T.; Kerdreux, B. A numerical study on active control for tiltrotor whirl flutter stability augmentation. *J. Am. Helicopter Soc.* **2006**, *51*, 244–254. [CrossRef]

- 217. Kim, T. Aeroelastic Stability Analysis of Tiltrotor Aircrafts with Unsteady Aerodynamic Effect. Ph.D. Thesis, School of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Seoul National University, Gwanak-gu, Seoul, Korea, February 2009.
- 218. Park, J.-S.; Jung, S.N.; Lee, M.-K.; Kim, J.M. Design optimization framework for tiltrotor composite wings considering whirl flutter stability. *Compos. Part B* 2010, *41*, 257–267. [CrossRef]
- 219. Bao, C.; Dai, Y.; Wang, P.; Tang, G. A piezoelectric energy harvesting scheme based on stall flutter of airfoil section. *Eur. J. Mech. B/Fluids* **2019**, *75*, 119–132. [CrossRef]
- 220. Abdullatif, M. Ranjan Mukherjee. Divergence and flutter instabilities of a cantilever beam subjected to a terminal dynamic moment. *J. Sound Vib.* **2019**, 455, 402–412. [CrossRef]
- 221. Zhu, B.; Chen, X.; Dong, Y.; Li, Y. Stability analysis of cantilever carbon nanotubes subjected to partially distributed tangential force and viscoelastic foundation. *Appl. Math. Model.* **2019**, *73*, 190–209. [CrossRef]
- 222. Modaress-Aval, A.H.; Bakhtiari-Nejad, F.; Dowell, E.H.; Peters, D.A.; Shahverdi, H. A comparative study of nonlinear aeroelastic models for high aspect ratio wings. *J. Fluids Struct.* **2019**, *85*, 249–274. [CrossRef]
- 223. Cisonni, J.; Lucey, A.D.; Elliott, N.S.J. Flutter of structurally inhomogeneous cantilevers in laminar channel flow. *J. Fluids Struct.* **2019**, *90*, 177–189. [CrossRef]
- 224. Kiani, K. Divergence and flutter instabilities of nanobeams in moving state accounting for surface and shear effects. *Comput. Math. Appl.* **2019**, *77*, 2764–2785. [CrossRef]
- 225. Alidoost, H.; Rezaeepazhand, J. Flutter of multi-cracked laminated composite beams subjected to a non-conservative compressive load. *Eng. Fract. Mech.* **2018**, *199*, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- 226. Bahaadini, R.; Saidi, A.R. On the stability of spinning thin-walled porous beams. *Thin-Walled Struct.* **2018**, 132, 604–615. [CrossRef]
- 227. Bahaadini, R.; Saidi, A.R. Mohammad Hosseini. On dynamics of nanotubes conveying nanoflow. *Int. J. Eng. Sci.* 2018, 123, 181–196. [CrossRef]
- 228. Pacheco, D.R.Q.; Marques, F.D.; Ferreira, A.J.M. Finite element analysis of fluttering plates reinforced by flexible beams: An energy-based approach. *J. Sound Vib.* **2018**, *435*, 135–148. [CrossRef]
- 229. Yuan, X.; Xiang, Z. A thermal-flutter criterion for an open thin-walled circular cantilever beam subject to solar heating. *Chin. J. Aeronaut.* **2018**, *31*, 1902–1909. [CrossRef]
- Zhou, X.; Huang, K.; Li, Z. Effects of bend-twist coupling on flutter limits of composite wind turbine blades. Compos. Struct. 2018, 192, 317–326. [CrossRef]
- 231. Bhatia, M.; Beran, P. Influence of aerodynamic nonlinearity due to static panel-curvature on flutter of panels at transonic and low supersonic Mach numbers. *J. Fluids Struct.* **2018**, *81*, 574–597. [CrossRef]
- 232. Pacheco, D.G.Q.; Ferreira, A.J.M.; Marques, F.D. On the effects of structural coupling on the supersonic flutter and limit cycle oscillations of transversely reinforced panels. *J. Fluids Struct.* **2018**, *79*, 158–170. [CrossRef]
- 233. Qiao, S.; Gao, H.; Lyu, Y.; Hua, L.; Wang, F. Nonlinear aeroelastic characteristics analysis of composite wing with high aspect ratio based on co-rotational method. *J. Fluids Struct.* **2018**, *82*, 619–637. [CrossRef]
- 234. Young, T.H.; Juan, C.S. Dynamic stability and response of fluttered beams subjected to random follower forces. *Int. J. Non-Linear Mech.* 2003, *38*, 889–901. [CrossRef]
- 235. Deivasigamani, A.; McCarthy, J.M.; John, S.; Watkins, S.; Trivailo, P.; Coman, F. Flutter of cantilevered interconnected beams with variable hinge positions. *J. Fluids Struct.* **2013**, *38*, 223–237. [CrossRef]
- 236. Detinko, F.M. Some phenomena for lateral flutter of beams under follower load. *Int. J. Solids Struct.* **2002**, *39*, 341–350. [CrossRef]
- 237. Maraghi, Z.K. Flutter and divergence instability of nanocomposite sandwich plate with magnetostrictive face sheets. *J. Sound Vib.* **2019**, 457, 240–260. [CrossRef]
- 238. Nitschke, C.; Vincenti, A.; Chassaing, J.-C. Influence of stochastic perturbations of composite laminate layups on the aeroelastic flutter of a cantilevered plate wing. *Compos. Struct.* **2019**, *220*, 809–826. [CrossRef]
- Zhong, Z.; Liu, A.; Pi, Y.; Deng, J.; Lu, H.; Li, S. Analytical and experimental studies on dynamic instability of simply supported rectangular plates with arbitrary concentrated masses. *Eng. Struct.* 2019, 196, 109288. [CrossRef]
- Zheng, Y.; Qiu, Z. An efficient method for flutter stability analysis of aeroelastic systems considering uncertainties in aerodynamic and structural parameters. *Mech. Syst. Signal Process.* 2019, 126, 407–426. [CrossRef]
- 241. Zhou, K.; Huang, X.; Zhang, Z.; Hua, H. Aero-thermo-elastic flutter analysis of coupled plate structures in supersonic flow with general boundary conditions. *J. Sound Vib.* **2018**, 430, 36–58. [CrossRef]

- 242. Teifouet, M.; Robinson, A.; Adal, S. Effects of the thickness on the stability of axially moving viscoelastic rectangular plates. *Appl. Acoust.* **2018**, *140*, 315–326.
- 243. Bochkarev, S.A.; Lekomtsev, S.V. Stability analysis of rectangular parallel plates interacting with internal fluid flow and external supersonic gas flow. *J. Fluids Struct.* **2018**, *78*, 331–342. [CrossRef]
- 244. Li, H.; Pang, F.; Miao, X.; Gao, S.; Liu, F. A semi analytical method for free vibration analysis of composite laminated cylindrical and spherical shells with complex boundary conditions. *Thin-Walled Struct.* **2019**, *136*, 200–220. [CrossRef]
- 245. Ninh, D.G.; Tien, N.D. Investigation for electro-thermo-mechanical vibration of nanocomposite cylindrical shells with an internal fluid flow. *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.* **2019**, *92*, 501–519. [CrossRef]
- 246. Li, X.; Li, Y.H.; Xie, T.F. Vibration characteristics of a rotating composite laminated cylindrical shell in subsonic air flow and hygrothermal environment. *Int. J. Mech. Sci.* **2019**, *150*, 356–368. [CrossRef]
- 247. Mokhtari, M.; Permoon, M.R.; Haddadpour, H. Aeroelastic analysis of sandwich cylinder with fractional viscoelastic core described by Zener model. *J. Fluids Struct.* **2019**, *85*, 1–16. [CrossRef]
- 248. Wang, H.; Zhai, Q.; Chen, K. Vortex-induced vibrations of an elliptic cylinder with both transverse and rotational degrees of freedom. *J. Fluids Struct.* **2019**, *84*, 36–55. [CrossRef]
- 249. Khudayarov, B.A.; Turaev, F.Z. Nonlinear supersonic flutter for the viscoelastic orthotropic cylindrical shells in supersonic flow. *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.* **2019**, *84*, 120–130. [CrossRef]
- 250. Mahmoudkhani, S. Aerothermoelastic analysis of imperfect FG cylindrical shells in supersonic flow. *Compos. Struct.* **2019**, 225, 111160. [CrossRef]
- 251. Xie, F.; Qu, Y.; Guo, Q.; Zhang, W.; Peng, Z. Nonlinear flutter of composite laminated panels with local non-smooth friction boundaries. *Compos. Struct.* **2019**, *223*, 110934. [CrossRef]
- Pan, Z.Z.; Zhang, L.W.; Liew, K.M. Modeling geometrically nonlinear large deformation behaviors of matrix cracked hybrid composite deep shells containing CNTRC layers. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng.* 2019, 355, 753–778. [CrossRef]
- 253. Zippo, A.; Barbieri, M.; Pellicano, F. Temperature gradient effect on dynamic properties of a polymeric circular cylindrical shell. *Compos. Struct.* **2019**, *216*, 301–314. [CrossRef]
- 254. Filipovic, D.; Kress, G. Manufacturing method for high-amplitude corrugated thin-walled laminates. *Compos. Struct.* **2019**, 222, 110925. [CrossRef]
- 255. Rahimi-Moghaddam, A.; Danesh, M.; Torabi, K. Absolute frequency analysis of traveling waves in a thin-wall laminated composite cylindrical shell rotating on two-ending elastic supports. *Compos. Struct.* 2019, 212, 129–147. [CrossRef]
- 256. Muc, A. Buckling and post-buckling behaviour of laminated shallow spherical shells subjected to external pressure. *Int. J. Non-Linear Mech.* **1992**, 27, 465–476. [CrossRef]
- 257. Ansari, R.; Torabi, J.; Faghih Shojaei, M. Vibrational analysis of functionally graded carbon nanotube-reinforced composite spherical shells resting on elastic foundation using the variational differential quadrature method. *Eur. J. Mech. A/Solids* **2016**, *60*, 166–182. [CrossRef]
- 258. Mohammadi, N.; Asadi, H.; Aghdam, M.M. An efficient solver for fully coupled solution of interaction between incompressible fluid flow and nanocomposite truncated conical shells. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng.* 2019, 351, 478–500. [CrossRef]
- 259. Kerboua, Y.; Lakis, A.A.; Hmila, M. Vibration analysis of truncated conical shells subjected to flowing fluid. *Appl. Math. Model.* **2010**, *34*, 791–809. [CrossRef]
- Selahi, E.; Setoodeh, A.R.; Tahani, M. Three-dimensional transient analysis of functionally graded truncated conical shells with variable thickness subjected to an asymmetric dynamic pressure. *Int. J. Press. Vessels Pip.* 2014, *119*, 29–38. [CrossRef]
- 261. Sabri, F.; Lakis, A.A. Hybrid finite element method applied to supersonic flutter of an empty or partially liquid-filled truncated conical shell. *J. Sound Vib.* **2010**, *329*, 302–316. [CrossRef]
- 262. Mahmoudkhani, S.; Haddadpour, H.; Navazi, H.M. Supersonic flutter prediction of functionally graded conical shells. *Compos. Struct.* **2010**, *92*, 377–386. [CrossRef]
- 263. Setoodeh, A.R.; Tahani, M.; Selahi, E. Transient dynamic and free vibration analysis of functionally graded truncated conical shells with non-uniform thickness subjected to mechanical shock loading. *Compos. Part B Eng.* 2012, 43, 2161–2171. [CrossRef]

- Rahmanian, M.; Firouz-Abadi, R.D.; Cigeroglu, E. Dynamics and stability of conical/cylindrical shells conveying subsonic compressible fluid flows with general boundary conditions. *Int. J. Mech. Sci.* 2017, 120, 42–61. [CrossRef]
- Singha, M.K.; Mandal, M. Supersonic flutter characteristics of composite cylindrical panels. *Compos. Struct.* 2008, *82*, 295–301. [CrossRef]
- Heshmati, M.; Amini, Y.; Daneshmand, F. Vibration and instability analysis of closed-cell poroelastic pipes conveying fluid. *Eur. J. Mech. A/Solids* 2019, 73, 356–365. [CrossRef]
- 267. Amabili, M.; Pellicano, F. Non-linear supersonic flutter of circular cylindrical shells. *AIAA J.* **2001**, *39*, 564–573. [CrossRef]
- 268. Amabili, M.; Pellicano, F. Multimode approach to nonlinear supersonic flutter of imperfect circular cylindrical shells. *J. Appl. Mech.* 2002, *69*, 117–129. [CrossRef]
- 269. Rahman, T.; Jansen, E.L.; Tiso, P. A finite element-based perturbation method for nonlinear free vibration analysis of composite cylindrical shells. *Int. J. Struct. Stab. Dyn.* **2001**, *11*, 717–734. [CrossRef]
- 270. Kurilov, E.A.; Mikhlin, Y.V. Nonlinear vibrations of cylindrical shells with initial imperfections in a supersonic flow. *Int. Appl. Mech.* 2007, 43, 1000–1008. [CrossRef]
- 271. Olson, M.D. Finite elements applied to panel flutter. AIAA J. 1967, 5, 2267–2270. [CrossRef]
- 272. Bismarck-Nasr, M.N. Finite element analysis of aeroelasticity of plates and shells. *Appl. Mech. Rev.* **1992**, 45, 461–582. [CrossRef]
- 273. Bismarck-Nasr, M.N. Finite elements in aeroelasticity of plates and shells. *Appl. Mech. Rev.* **1996**, 49, 17–24. [CrossRef]
- 274. Chen, P.C.; Zhang, Z.; Sengupta, A.; Liu, D. Overset Euler/Boundary-Layer solver with panel-based aerodynamic modeling for aeroelastic applications. *J. Aircr.* 2009, *46*, 2054–2068. [CrossRef]
- 275. Zhang, Z.; Chen, P.C.; Yang, S.; Wang, Z.; Wang, Q. Unsteady aerostructure coupled adjoint method for flutter suppression. *AIAA J.* 2015, *53*, 2121–2129. [CrossRef]
- 276. Muc, A.; Muc-Wierzgoń, M. An evolution strategy in structural optimization problems for plates and shells. *Compos. Struct.* **2012**, *94*, 1461–1470. [CrossRef]



© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).